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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, | Case No.

Plaintiff and Respondent, (Ct. of App. Case
No. F065481; related
V. Nos. F065288,
F065984)
GABRIEL RAMOS,

(Kern Co. Super. Ct.
Defendant and Appellant. No. BF137853A)

PETITION FOR REVIEW TO EXHAUST STATE REMEDIES

TO: THE HONORABLE TAMI CANTIL-SAKUYE, CHIEF JUSTICE,
AND TO THE HONORABLE ASSOCIATE JUSTICES OF THE
SUPREME COURT:

Pursuant to California Rules of Court, rule 8.508 petitioner, Gabriel
Ramos, respectfully files this petition for review for the sole purpose of
exhausting his state remedies prior to presenting his claims for federal
habeas corpus relief. The case presents no grounds for review under rule
8.500.

The Court of Appeal, Fifth Appellate District, issued a decision

affirming petitioner’s conviction on January 31, 2015. A copy of the

decision is attached hereto in the Appendix. No petition for rehearing was



filed.
STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 28, 2012, a consolidated amended information was
filed charging petitioner and co-defendants Rene Gutierrez and Ramiro
Enriquez with attempted murder (sec. 664/187, subd. (a) - Count 1),
assault with a firearm (sec. 245, subd. (a) - Count 2), and active
participation in a criminal street gang (sec. 186.22, subd. (a) - Count 3).
(2 CT 431, 437-438, 443-444)! A section 186.22, subdivision (b)(1)
enhancement was alleged as to Counts 1 and 2. (2 CT 431, 438.)
Premeditation and deliberation (sec. 189) and a section 12022.53, firearm
enhancement (subds. (d) and (e)(1)) were alleged as to Count 1. (2 CT
431-432.) As to petitioner, a prior strike conviction enhancement (sec.
667, subds. (¢)-(j), sec. 1170.12, subds. (a)-(e)), serious felony conviction
enhancement (sec. 667, subd. (a)) and prison prior enhancement (sec.
667.5, subd. (b)) were alleged as to all counts. (2 CT 434-435, 439-441,
444-445))

After a 22 day trial, the jury found petitioner guilty of Count 3. (2

CT 522-84, 671; 10 RT 2626.) Having not reached a verdict on Counts 1

1 Throughout this brief the following abbreviations are used: “CT” (Clerk’s
Transcript); “RT” (Reporter’s Transcript), “ART” (Augmented Reporter’s
Transcript).



and 2, and the court declared a mistrial as to those counts. (3 CT 584; 10
RT 2626.) The district attorney was granted leave to amend the
information to allege a fourth count for criminal threats (sec. 422 - Count
4) along with the prior strike conviction and two prison prior allegations.
(3 CT678; 12 RT 3207-3208.) Pursuant to a plea bargain, petitioner
pleaded nolo contendere to Count 4 and admitted the prior conviction
allegations as to Counts 3 and 4. (3 CT 679; 12 RT 3208-3209.) Pursuant
to the plea bargain, the district attorney dismissed Counts 1 and 2 and the
section 667, subdivision (a) allegation as to Count 3. (3 CT 679-680; 12
RT 3210.)

On July 20, 2012, the court, after granting his motion to strike
prior strike conviction, sentenced petitioner to state prison for five years,
imposing the upper term of three years for Count 3 and two years for each
of the two prison priors. (3 CT 689, 691; 12 RT 3216-3217.) A
concurrent term was imposed for Count 4. (3 CT 689; 12 RT 3217.)

On July 23, 2012, petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal. (3 CT
693.)

On January 31, 2015, after consolidating the appeals of petitioner

with co-defendants Ramirez and Gutierrez, the Court of Appeal issued its



unpublished decision affirming the judgment as to petitioner in all
respects. (Appendix.)
STATEMENT OF FACTS
Prosecution Case
A. The Shooting of Langston

Kyle Fuller lived in Shafter. (3 RT 616.) Fuller was a drug user.
(3 RT 621.) He knew Shafter residents Gutierrez and Enriquez but did
not associate frequently with them. (3 RT 616—61 8,704, 745.)

Travis Harless is a police officer with the City of Bakersfield.

(9 RT 2356.) Harless was the prosecution’s gang expert for this case. (9
RT 2356-2359.) Harless was of the opinion that Gutierrez and Enriquez
were members of Varrio Westside Shafter, and that petitioner was a
member of the Varrio Bakers gang, both Surero criminal street gangs. (9
RT 2383, 2405, 2422.)

On the evening of July 29, 2011, Fuller drove his Saturn SUV to
Melissa Schuetze’s apartment to consume drugs. (3 RT 616, 619, 621; 7
RT 1680, 1681.) Schuetze, also a methamphetamine user, had recently
met Gutierrez. (2 RT 365, 373, 517-518; 3 RT 728.) Fuller did not know
petitioner and had never seen petitioner in the company of Gutierrez or

Enriquez. (3 RT 704.) Gutierrez, Enriquez, Schuetze, and two other



females joined the group. (2 RT 415, 522, 529, 535; 3 RT 618-622.)‘
During the visit, Fuller saw Gutierrez put a sawed-off shotgun wrapped in
a towel under the hood of the Saturn. (3 RT 624, 655-656, 657, 740.)

After 11:00 p.m., the group drove to the Western Knights Motel on
Union Avenue in Bakersfield. (3 RT 366, 519, 535, 623.) While en
route, Gutierrez handed Schuetze some shotgun shells, which she hid in
her bra. (2 RT 388.)

Petitioner worked at the motel. (6 RT 1683.) He helped arrange a
room where the group could use drugs and got it ready for the group. (3
RT 706; 6 RT 1516, 7 RT 1841.)

Gabriel Trevino joined the group after receiving a call from
petitioner. (7 RT 1808, 1841.) Trevino, a member of Varrio Wasco Rifa,
a Sureno gang subset, was acquainted with the defendants. (7 RT 1677-
1678, 1753, 1758.)

In the meantime, Clarence Langston had ridden his bicycle to the
motel. (1 RT 108-109, 117, 147.) Lahgston was in the parking lot
speaking with another person when he was interrupted by petitioner. An
argument ensued. (1 RT 109-110; 6RT 1685-1686.)

According to Trevino, Langston was upset and intent on escalating

the argument. Petitioner was telling Langston, “You don’t need to be



tripping.” “We take care of our own.” “We have an agreement here.”
“We’ll take care of it.” (6 RT 1686, 1697.) Trevino heard Langston get
on his cellphone, and as he was walking out of the motel said “get that
thing ready.” (6 RT 1687; 7 RT 1855.) Trevino interpreted the statement
to mean Langston was going to get a firecarm. (6 RT 1687.)

Trevino heard petitioner say to Gutierrez and Enriquez, who were
observing from the second floor balcony, “Southside homies come down.”
(6 RT 1690, 1687, 1694.) Next, petitioner told Trevino he was going to
get a gun to defend himself. (6 RT 1691, 1692-1693; 7 RT 1868.)
Trevino saw petitioner heading out of the motel and crossing the street.
(6 RT 1692.) As petitioner left, he only told the others to “be on your
toes.” (6 RT 1695.) Petitioner told Trevino that “this fool was tripping
and if he wanted to be handled,” it would be handled. (6 RT 1696.)
Neither Trevino nor Fuller (who recalled a similar statement) were sure
whether petitioner said “he” would handle it or “we” would handle it. (7
RT 1868, 9A RT 2051.) Trevino told investigating officers that when
petitioner left he also told the others to “get out of here” because there
was “nothing to be done at the motel.” (7 RT 1868-1869.) The four men

got into the SUV after petitioner had left. (6 RT 1692.) -



Fearing the argument had created a problem, Langston left the
motel. (1 RT 112-113, 118.) He rode his bicycle down Union Avenue,
where he turned right and came to a stop at the house of friend. (1 RT
118-119.)

Fuller drove Trevino, Gutierrez and Enriquez away from the motel.
(6 RT 1696.) Trevino was anticipating a fight, but not with weapons. (6
RT 1702.) Trevino had no knowledge that Gutierrez had a gun in the car.
(6 RT 1701.)

Enriquez spotted Langston on the street to their right and pointed
him out. (6 RT 1703.) Gutierrez said, “Let’s take care of this fool right
now.” (6 RT 1704.) Fuller told investigating officers that Gutierrez asked
Enriquez, “What do you want to do?” Enriquez answered, “Whatever you
want to do my boy, whatever you want to do.” (8 RT 2052.) Gutierrez
got out of the vehicle and fired his gun two to three times at Langston. (1
RT 122,235; 6 RT 1704.)

Langston turned, began running, and jumped over a gate or fence.
(1RT 119, 122, 152, 156.) He heard two shots and was struck by
approximately 40 shotgun pellets. (1 RT 122, 286-288,319.)

After the shooting, Gutierrez, Enriquez, Fuller and Trevino drove a

short distance, where Trevino hid the weapon. (3 RT 636.)



At the hospital, Langston told Bakersfield Police Officer Eric
Littlefield that the man he argued with yelled to someone in the SUV to
“get the Cuete,” which is a slang term for a firearm. (2 RT 284-285, 293-
296.)

Another Bakersfield Police Officer, Ryan Kroeker, spoke to
petitioner at the hospital. (2 RT 330.) Kroeker testified that Langston,
through a photographic line-up, identified petitioner as the man with
whom he had argued. (2 RT 335-339.) Langston described the man as a
30 to 40 year old Hispanic male with a “Bakers” tattoo across his back. (1
RT 333.) Langston also told Kroeker that the man he argued with stated
the instruction “get the Cuete,” though it was in the direction of an
upstairs room, not at the car. (2 RT 333, 342.) Fuller and Trevino denied
hearing such a statement. (3 RT 710; 7 RT 1869.)

Fuller testified that petitioner told him in the hallway at court to lie
at tfial and deny that Gutierrez was the shooter, and if he did his family
would be okay. (6 RT 1596-1598.)

B. Gang Evidence

Harless testified that the Surenos are the predominant Hispanic

street gang in tﬁe southern part of the state. (9 RT 2356, 2358, 2363-

2364.) Sureno subset gangs in Bakersfield carry the tag “Bakers,”



including the Varrio Bakers. (9 RT 2380.) The Wasco Varrio Rifas and
Westside Varrio Shafter are two Sureno subset gangs in the area
surrounding Bakersfield. (9 RT 2364.)

Harless proffered four predicate crimes in support of the
prosecution’s claim that Varrio Bakers was a criminal street gang.
Petitioner’s name was not mentioned in connection with any of the four
offenses. (9 RT 2464.) Harless considered the three codefendants to be
active members of Varrio Bakers. (9 RT 2372, 2373, 2380, 2381.)

The first offense was an April 2010 carjacking by Hubbard. (9 RT
2371.) The victim Vargas drove up to a female and asked if she wanted to
party. (9 RT 2370.) Vargas left but returned a short time later, when he
was met by Hubbard and a confederate, who brandished a firearm.
Hubbard commandeered Vargas’s vehicle and forced Vargas into the
trunk. (9 RT 2371.)

The second offense was possession of heroin for sale by Alexis
Mendoza, which occurred in June 2010. (9 RT 2372-2373.)

The third offense was for narcotics possession at the Western
Knights Motel by Jose Lopez, which occurred in May 2010. (9 RT 2379-
2380.) Harless testified that the Western Knights motel is in territory

controlled by Varrio Bakers. (9 RT 2385.)



The fourth offense was felon in possession of a firearm by Jason
Rodriguez, which occurred in November 2010. Rodriguez entered a
residence without permiséion while possessing a loaded revolver,
assaulted a resident, and stole her purse. (9 RT 2380-2381.)

Harless testified that these offenses were committed in furtherance
of the gang, and that the ongoing pattern of criminal activity was
“generally known” by its members. (9 RT 2382.) He stated that Varrio
Bakers and Varrio Westside Shafter commit crimes together. (9 RT
2368.) He testified that murders, assaults, and other violent offenses
constitute a primary activity of the Surenos. (9 RT 2368.)

Harless testified that in Sureno gang culture, members acquire
respect within the gang through acts of violence and are obligated to
retaliate if disrespected. (9 RT 2369.) Guns are “tools of the trade” for
gang members. (9 RT 2369.)

C. Evidence of Petitioner’s Gang Participation

Harless testified that he believed petitioner was an “active”
member of Varrio Bakers. (9 RT 2383, 2462.) The report of the current
offenses played a central role in Harless’ opinion that petitioner was an
active Varrio Bakers member. (9 RT 2383.) Harless’s only other source

of information regarding petitioner’s gang affiliation came from two other

10



officers and police incident reports. (9 RT 2382-2283.) Officer Kroeker
asserted to him that petitioner was a Varrios Bakers member. Harless
offered no details for the basis of Kroeker’s opinion. (9 RT 2382.) The
other officer encountered petitioner in an August 2008 street check,
described below. (9 RT 2382, 2467.)

Harless relied on four street checks (non-arrest contacts) involving
petitioner. (9 RT 2382, 2386-2387.) On August 18, 2008, petitioner
admitted membership. (9 RT 2387, 2467.) There was no evidence he was
associating with Varrio Bakers members at the time. Petitioner was not
on probation or parole at the time. (9 RT 2468.) Although he had a
Varrio Bakers tattoo on his back, petitioner told the officer he had never
been “jumped into the gang.” (9 RT 2469-2470.) Harless has been told
that petitioner’s gang moniker is “Malo.” (9 RT 2394.)

On September 3, 2008, petitioner was observed in the company of
Jason Rodriguez, who showed his gang tattoos. Petitioner admitted
membership at that time. (9 RT 2388.) He was also reported to have
stated that he had “been out of the gang for a minute” but would still

“back up” the gang. (9 RT 2471, 2491.)

11



Three years later, on two occasions in the space of one month,
petitioner was observed in the company of Nicole Davanzo, who was
known to associate with Varrios Bakers. (9 RT 2372-2473, 2388.)

On February 25, 2011, petitioner was contacted and stated he had
run out of gas and was knocking on doors to get help. (9 RT 2471-2472.)
On this occasion, Davanzo and another female were passengers in the car.
(9 RT 2472.)

On March 23, 2011, petitioner was again in the company of
Davanzo. (9 RT 2389.) The officers approached him based on an
unfounded suspicion of automobile theft. (9 RT 2473.)

On four occasions, petitioner has claimed the need to be kept away
from Nortenos during custodial bookings because of membership or
associations with a gang. (9 RT 2390, 2446.) Petitioner has the number
13 tattoo on his forearms and the word “Bakers” on his upper back.

(9 RT 2392-2393.)
Defense Case

Yesenia Ortega was introduced to Trevino by petitioner, who was
Ortega’s former boyfriend. (9A RT 2548-2549, 2559.) Trevino explained
to her what happened in the Langston shooting incident. (9A RT 2549-

2550, 2554.) After he heard petitioner and Langston argue, Trevino heard

12



Langston say over the telephone, “Get my shit ready, the Southsiders are
tripping.” (9A RT 2549-2551.)

Trevino believed Langston might do harm to petitioner, so Trevino
and “his two homeboys” got in an SUV. (9A RT 2550, 2552.) Trevino
might have said they were going to get a gun. (9A RT 2550.) Petitioner
did not even know that Trevino had left with the others. (9A RT 2553.)

Petitioner never told Ortega he was a member of the Varrio Bakers.
(9A RT 2557-2558.) She did not believe him to be a member of a gang.
(9A RT 2558.)

Rebuttal

Trevino denied telling Ortega about the incident at the Western
Knights Motel, and denied all of the statements Ortega attributed to him.
(9A RT 2600-29 - 2600-32.)

ARGUMENT
L. THE CONVICTION FOR ACTIVE PARTICIPATION

IN A CRIMINAL STREET GANG IN THE ABSENCE

OF SUPPORTING SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE

DENIED PETITIONER HIS FEDERAL

CONSTITUTIONAL DUE PROCESS RIGHT TO

PROOF BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT.

A conviction on less than substantial evidence violates a criminal

defendant’s federal constitutional right to proof beyond a reasonable

13



doubt. Due process requires that a criminal conviction only be based
upon evidence establishing proof beyond a reasonable doubt. (/nre
Winship (1970) 397 U.S. 358, 362; Jackson v. Virginia (1979) 443 U.S.
307, 319; U.S. Const. 5th, 14th Amds.) The standard of review is
identical to that applied under state law. (See People v. Maury (2003) 30
Cal.4th 342, 403; People v. Johnson (1980) 26 Cal.3d 557, 577-578;
People v. Morris (1988) 46 Cal.3d 1,21.) The relevant question is
whether, after Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the
prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential
elements of the crime true beyond a reasonable doubt. (Jackson v.
Virginia, supra, 443 U.S. 307, 318-319.)

The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the
United States Constitution, which incorporates the Fifth Amendment's due
process clause and the Sixth Amendment's jury trial clause, requires that,
before it may obtain a valid conviction from a jury, the state must prove
every element of a crime, and must do so beyond a reasonable doubt.
Under decisions of the United States Supreme Court, including Sullivan v.
Louisiana (1993) 508 U.S. 275, 277-278, if substantial evidence is lacking

as to any single element of the offense, the conviction must be reversed.

14



(Brown v. Farewell (9th Cir. 2008) 525 F.3d 787, 794-795, cert. den.
(2009) _ U.S. _ [129S.Ct. 1038].)

Moreover, without legally sufficient evidence to support findings
that petitioner’s gang participation was with knowledge that Varrio
Bakers members engage in a pattern of criminal gang activity and that
petitioner willfully promoted, furthered, or assisted in felonious criminal
conduct by members of that gang, the statute is unconstitutional as applied
under People v. Castenada (2000) 23 Cal.4th 743 (Casteneda) because it
does not satisfy the personal guilt requirement of the federal due process
clauses. The STEP Act is only constitutional as applied when the
elements as defined in Castenada have been proven beyond a reasonable
doubt. Failure to prove these elements violates the Due Process Clause of
the Fourteenth Amendment because a criminal conviction must be based
on personal guilt rather than mere association. (Scales v. United States
(1961) 367 U.S. 203, 226.)

In re Lincoln J. (1990) 223 Cal.App.3d 322, 327, states the
elements of the offense of participation in a criminal street gang as
follows: (1) the existence of a ‘criminal street gang’; (2) defendant’s
‘active’ participation in that gang; (3) defendant’s knowledge that ‘its

members engage in or have engaged in a pattern of criminal gang

15



activity’; and (4) defendant’s willful promotion, furtherance, or assistance
‘in any felonious criminal conduct by members of that gang.”” Lack of
substantial evidence as to any of the elements requires reversal of the
conviction for the substantive offense. (In re Lincoln J., supra, 223
Cal.App.3d 322.)
A. Substantial Evidence that the Statutorily Listed
Criminal Offenses Constitute a “Primary Activity”
of Petitioner’s Gang Is Lacking.

The prosecution failed to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that
Varrio Bakers was criminal street gang evidence because it failed to
establish that statutorily enumerated crimes of the gang constitute one of
its “primary activities.” (Sec. 186.22, subd. (f), italics added.)

Isolated criminal conduct, however, is not
enough. “Sufficient proof of the gang's primary
activities might consist of evidence that the
group's members consistently and repeatedly
have committed criminal activity listed in the
gang statute.” (Id. at p. 324.) Expert
testimony based on an adequate factual
foundation might also be sufficient. (/bid.)
(In re Alexander L. (2007) 149 Cal.App.4th 605, 611.) The factfinder

may consider past and current criminal activities. (People v.

Sengpadychith (2001) 26 Cal.4th 316, 323.)

16



Harless expressly offered his opinion on primary activity as to the
Surenos gang, not the Varrio Bakers gang. (9 RT 2368.) But because the
only competent evidence of criminal offenses pertained to Varrio Bakers,
he invited the jury to consider the violent reputation of the Surenos gang
in general, while obfuscating the real scope of the inquiry. The mere
listing of a few predicate offenses as to Varrio Bakers was insufficient to
establish an adequate foundation by which the jury could logically
conclude that enumerated offenses constituted a chief or principal activity
of Varrio Bakers. Without such foundation, the gang expert’s opinion as
to the ultimate issue was of no consequence. (See People v. Gardeley
(1996) 14 Cal.4th 605, 618.)

“Primary” is a term of relativity: for the activity to be primary it
must be greater in relation to other activities of the gang. (People v.
Sengpadychith, supra, 26 Cal.4th at p. 323 [“primary” means “chief” or
“principal”].) In order any jury to maké this determination on relativity it
must be provided context. Harless failed to providé the jury with any
contextual evidence whatsoever of the lifestyle, range of activities,
numbers of members, or proportion engaged in criminal activities on the
part of Varrio Bakers in particular, or Surenos in general. (In re

Alexander L., supra, 149 Cal.App.4th 605, 614, fn. 5.)

17



B. The Evidence Adduced Here Shows, At Most,
Only a Nominal or Passive Association, and Fails
To Satisfy the Personal Guilt Requirement of the
Statute.

Castaneda, supra, 23 Cal.4th 743, held that the statute requires a
gang member taking part in a criminal enterprise or activity; the activity
must be more than “nominal” or “passive.” (23 Cal.4th at p. 747.) Under
Castenada, petitioner must have been found beyond a reasonable doubt to
have aided and aided a specific felony committed by gang members
knowing of the Varrio Bakers’ pattern of criminal activity. (/d. at pp.
749-750, citing People v. Beeman (1984) 35 Cal.3d 547; see also People
v. Gardeley, supra, 14 Cal.4th 605, 623.)

1. Lack of Competent Evidence of Actual
Association and/or Participation in Varrio
Bakers Aside from the Current Offenses.

As Harless conceded, no reliable informant has ever identified
petitioner an active member of Varrio Bakers (Trevino not having been
established as reliable), or testified to petitioner’s actual participation in
the gang. The police were aware of only one other incident, three years
prior to the current offense, in which petitioner was in the presence of

another Varrio Bakers member. Petitioner admitted membership in the

earlier of the two contacts in 2008, but in the only one in which he was in
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the presence of another gang member, his statement of membership was
equivocal (he had “been out of the gang for a minute”). (Cf. People v.
Williams (2009) 170 Cal.App.4th 587, 625; People v. Garcia (2007) 153
Cal.App.4th 1499, 1509.) Not a single incident report related to an arrest
of petitioner. (/bid.) Most critically, the jury declined to find petitioner
aided and abetted in the current offenses.

Evidence of petitioner’s request not to be held in custody with
Norteno gang members carries little weight given that petitioner had two
Sureno tattoos that would have made him a target of Nortenos within the
prison. It is consistent with self-protection as much as promotion of the
Varrio Bakers and its felonious conduct. (People v. Gardeley, supra, 14
Cal.4th 605, 623.)

2. Lack of Evidence that Petitioner Aided and
Abetted the Current Offenses.

Since evidence of past instances of gang promotion was lacking,
then a fortiori, if evidence of active participation is not shown by the
current offenses, the evidence as a whole was insufficient to sustain the
verdict. (Cf. People v. Manriquez (1999) 72 Cal.App.4th 1486, 1491.)

Since the prosecution did not rely on proof of petitioner’s direct
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commission of a felony, proof of aiding and abetting the current offenses
was an essential element of the prosecution’s case under Castenada.

The evidence viewed in the light most favorable to the prosecution
establishes only that in response to Langston’s act of disrespect to
petitioner, a gang member, petitioner called to his codefendants as
“Southsiders” to “come down” from the second floor of the motel balcony
(6 RT 1689-1690.) Petitioner called for back-up but never incited the
others to take action. He then left the motel to retrieve a weapon in
response to Langston threatening to get a firearm himself, but when
leaving only told the others to be “on [their] toes.” (6 RT 1689-1690;
1695.) Even if Langston heard petitioner to say to “get the Cuete” (as
reported to Officers Littlefield and Kroeker but denied as having been
uttered by Fuller and Trevino), that statement fails to demonstrate an
intent by petitioner to have the others assault Langston With a firearm.
Petitioner worked at the motel and had an interest to maintain a peaceable
environment, irrespective of any interest in gang promotion.v

Both Trevino and Fuller conceded that petitioner may have told the
others he was going to handle business himself. (7 RT 1868; Hicks v.
United States (1893) 150 U.S. 442, 447-449 [erroneous jury instruction

permitted conviction based on ambiguous conduct of the alleged aider and
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abettor].) That was consistent with petitioner’s other statement that there
was nothing left for them to do at the motel. (7 RT 1869.) Similarly,
petitioner’s statement of threatened action (“if he wanted to be handled,
we would handle it” (6 RT 1696)) and caution (“be on your toes”) were
anticipatory in nature only. According to Trevino, Langston was the one
who escalated the argument to the precipice of violence. (6 RT 1686-
1687, 1697, 1855.)
3. Lack of Evidence of Petitioner’s Knowledge

of Varrio Bakers’ Pattern of Criminal

Activity.

The prosecution relied on the gang expert’s opinion on the question
of petitioner’s knowledge of the Varrio Bakers’ pattern of gang activity.
Neither the opinion, nor the competent evidence offered in the case,
constitutes substantial evidence as to this element. The statute by its
express terms reqﬁires that the prosecution prove the defendant had
knowledge of the criminal street gang’s pattern of gang activity. (In re
Lincoln J., supra, 223 Cal.App.3d 322, 327.)

An expert’s opinion—regardless of the mental processes by which
the opinion is reached—is only as trustworthy as the facts upon which it is

based. (People v. McWhorter (2009) 47 Cal.4th 318, 361; CALCRM No.

332.) When an expert does not have personal knowledge to support his
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opinion he must be asked a hypothetical question and the jury is instructed
to determine whether the facts assumed by the hypothetical have been
proved. (Manney v. Housing Authority of Richmond (1947) 79
Cal.App.2d 459, 460.) There is but one instance in all the years preceding
the current offenses in which petitioner was observed in the company of a
Varrio Bakers member. Nothing demonstrated that Harless could
reasonably conclude that Varrio Bakers active members discuss or boast
about their criminal activity to other members, much less marginal
associates such as petitioner. (People v. Robles (2000) 23 Cal.4th 1106,
1109-1110. Pacific Gas & Elec. Co. v. Zuckerman (1987) 189 Cal.App.3d
1113, 1135.))

Accordingly, petitioner was deprived of his right to proof of the
personal guilt requirement of the Fourteenth Amendment’s Due Process
Clause and conviction of active participation in a criminal street gang only
upon evidence to prove the elements beyond a reasonable doubt under the
Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment, and the Jury Trial Clause of

the Sixth Amendment.
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II. THE TRIAL COURT’S DENIAL OF PETITIONER’S
BATSON-WHEELER MOTION DENIED HIM EQUAL
PROTECTION OF THE LAWS UNDER THE
FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS.

After timely objection to the prosecutor’s use of peremptory
challenges to remove ten of eleven Hispanic potential jurors from the
panel, the trial court found a prima facie case of discrimination but
ultimately denied the motion after hearing the prosecutor’s justifications.
(5 ART 1070-1074.) This was error because the prosecution’s
explanations were pretextual when analyzed on a juror-by-juror basis and
based on the pattern as a whole. In particular, the systematic exclusion of
Hispanics, coupled with the pretextual challenges of two women residents
of Wasco with strong law enforcement connections because they
professed lack of awareness of gang activity by Wasco Varrio Rifas,
Trevino’s gang, clearly establishes the required .discriminatory motive.
Other comparative analysis further proves the challenges were pretextual.

A. Applicable Legal Principles.

The exercise of peremptory challenges to the jury panel being
chosen for a criminal defendant’s trial in a manner that discriminates

against a “cognizable” group violates the federal constitution’s equal

protection guarantee under the Fourteenth Amendment. (Batson v.
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Kentucky (1986) 476 U.S. 79 (Batson); People v. Wheeler (1978) 22
Cal.3d 258; U.S. Const. 14th Amd.) Hispanics are a cognizable group.
(People v. Trevino (1985) 39 Cal.3d 667, 684; People v. Garceau (1993) 6
Cal.4th 140, 171.)

Batson sets out a three-step procedure as follows: (1) the
defendant must make out a prima facie case by “showing that the totality
of the relevant facts gives rise to an inference of discriminatory purpose”;
(2) if a prima facie case has been made, the “burden shifts to the State to
explain adequately the racial exclusion” by offering permissible
race-neutral justifications for the strikes; and (3) “[i]f a race-neutral
explanation is tendered, the trial court must then decide . . . whether the
opponent of the strike has proved purposeful racial discrimination.”
(Johnson v. California (2005) 545 U.S. 162, 168.)

When the trial court makes a finding of a prima facie case the
burden of justification of providing race-neutral reasons for the challenges
shifts to the prosecution, bringing into dispute only the third step of the
process. (People v. Silva (2001) 25 Cal.4th 345, 384.) The third step
obligates the trial court to make “a sincere and reasoned attempt to
evaluate the prosecutor's explanation[s] in light of the circurr{stances of

the case as then known.” (People v. Hall (1983) 35 Cal.3d 161, 167-168.)
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The legitimacy of the justification is determined on the basis of a
preponderance of the evidence. (People v. Hutchins (2007) 147
Cal.App.4th 992, 997.)

Because the underlying issue is discriminatory motive, the focus is
on the subjective “genuineness” of the prosecutor’s race neutral reasons
given for the peremptory challenge, not on the objective reasonableness of
those reasons. (See Purkett v. Elem (1995) 514 U.S. 765, 769 (Purkett).)
“This final step involves evaluating ‘the persuasiveness of the
justification’ proffered by the prosecutor, but ‘the ultimate burden of
persuasion regarding racial motivation rests with, and never shifts from,
the opponent of the strike.” ” (Rice v. Collins (2006) 546 U.S. 333, 338,
citing Purkett, supra, at p. 768.) It is the court’s duty to ferret out
“disingenuous” from “legitimate” reasons. (People v. Reynoso (2003) 31
Cal.4th 903, 925.) Reasons that are inherently implausible, unsupported
by the record, or both, are not entitled to deference. (People v. Silva,
supra, 25 Cal.4th 345, 386.) A disingenuous reason includes those based
on group bias and stereotyping, or which under the circumstances are
objectively implausible. (People v. Reynoso, supra, 31 Cal.4th at p. 925.)

A prosecutor may justify exclusion based on the expression of

skeptical attitudes toward the criminal justice system but only if actually
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expressed and not arising from a prosecutorial assumption of such an
attitude based on stereotyping. (People v. Calvin (2008) 159 Cal.App.4th
1377, 1387-1388; People v. Turner (2001) 90 Cal.App.4th 413, 416;
Snyder v. Louisiana (2008) 552 U.S. 472.)

A showing of pretext can be made and reviewed on appeal on the
basis of a comparative analysis of other jurors not in the cognizable group
whom the prosecutor declined to challenge but who suffered the same
criticisms as those excluded, so long as the comparative analysis was
actually presented to the trial court. (Miller-El v. Dretke (2005) 545 U.S.
231; see also People v. Lenix (2008) 44 Cal.4th 602, 622.)

The defendant’s right to a jury unaffected by bias is so important
that the elimination of even one juror based on racial bias violates equal
protection. (People v. Fuentes (1991) 54 Cal.3d 707, 716, fn. 4.)

B. The Prima Facie Showing and the Parties’

Responses.

During the eighth round of voir dire with 12 jurors in the box, the
prosecutor exercised his 16th peremptory challenge. That challenge was
to a Hispanic, making it the 10th such challenge against a member of the
group. (5 ART 1047, 1051-1052.) Petitioner joined in Gutierrez’s

Batson/Wheeler motion. (5 ART 1049.)
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The trial court concluded that a prima facie showing was
established based on the high percentage of challenges against Hispanics,
four of which had been made consecutively. (5 ART 1052-1053.)
Although the prosecutor had passed on his challenges on more than one
occasion with at least one Hispanic still seated, including Nos. 2478882
and 2723471, No. 2723471 was later challenged. (5 ART 1052-1053.)
Thus, only one Hispanic juror remained on the panel when the motion was
made.?

Comparative analysis arguments were made on the record below.
(5 ART 1062-1068, 1069.)

C. The Jurors’ Profiles and the Prosecutor’s
Justifications.

1. No. 2632053.
No. 2632053 was call center supervisor with three children. (4
ART 941-942.) No. 2632053 had been exposed to Sureno gang life in
Idaho as an adolescent through her brother and ex-husband. (4 ART 942,

5 ART 1017, 1018, 1020, 1022-1024.) Three close friends of No.

2 The fact that some jurors of the cognizable group remain on the panel is
not conclusive but is an appropriate factor for the court to consider.
(People v. Ward (2005) 36 Cal.4th 186, 203.)
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2632053 had been murdered by rival gang members. (4 ART 942, 5
Al1018.)

No. 2632053 stated emphatically that she could be impartial. She
chalked up her personal history as life experience from her teenage years
and stated that she had changed her li.fe “completely.” She added that if
anything, her prior experience might bring a perspective from “both sides”
of the issue. (5 ART 1019.)

During individual questioning by the prosecutor, No. 2632053
stated she had no present contact with gang members. (5 ART 1022.)

She believed her brother had been treated fairly in the criminal justice
~system. (5 ART 1023.) No. 2632053 stated she would not try to speak
with any authority on gang issues during deliberations. (5 ART 1023-
1024.)

The prosecutor objected to No. 2632053's life experience that
included living in an area with gang activity and having relatives involved
in the gang life. (5 ART 1054.) He believed that No. 2632053 “was
trying to change her life, but that cast a heavy shadow over her life

experiences.” (5 ART 1054.)
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2. No. 2732073.
No. 2732073 was married with three adult children. (4 ART 905.)
Her father, and husband, who was permanently disabled, were ex-gang
members from Los Angeles County. Her husband has not been in jail for
25 years. No. 2732073 learned of gang activities through her association
with her husband, who was active in high school. (4 ART 906.) She
mentioned learning the creed of “do the time if you do the crime.” (4

ART 926.) No. 2732073 believed her husband had been treated fairly by

‘the criminal justice system for his involvement with drugs and spousal

abuse. (4 ART 906.) She affirmed that her past experiences would not
interfere with her ability to be impartial, No. 2732073. (4 ART 926.)

The prosecutor justified his challenge based on No. 2732073's long
association with her husband, adding that this was “probably not the right
type of case for her to sit as a juror on.” (5 ART 1055.)

3. No. 2408196.

No. 2408196 was a case records technician employed by Wasco
State Prison. She was married to a juvenile correctional officer. She
lived in Wasco and had three minor children. (4 ART 812.) Through her
work she received some training on prison gangs. When she was young,

No. 2408196 knew an uncle who was involved in gangs. Otherwise, she
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denied having any special knowledge about gangs. (4 ART 813-814.)
No. 2408196 had mixed views about law enforcement, being very pleased
with the way they prosecuted the perpetrator of her cousin’s non-gang-
related murder, but less pleased with the investigation of a home burglary.
(4 ART 814-816.) Nevertheless, No. 2408196 believed she could be
impartial. (4 ART 818.)

When questioned by the prosecutor, No. 2408196 denied having

knowledge of gang activity in Wasco, though she acknowledged seeing

uncle who was in a gang and lived in another state, and she has never

spoken to him about his gang activities. (4 ART 864-865.) She was not
particularly close with her cousin who was murdered and she had fully
come to terms with his passing, in part because his murderer had been
| successfully prosecuted. (4 ART 866-867.)

The prosecutor justified his challenge of No. 2408196 because of
the uncle and her cousin’s murder. In addition, because Trevino was a

member of Wasco Varrio Rifas, the prosecutor was concerned with No.
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2408196's denial of knowledge of gang activity in Wasco. (5 ART
1056.)°
4. No. 2510083.
No. 2510083 is an instructional aide at an elementary school. She
was single and had no children. She had two cousins employed as
highway patrols. She had no prior experiences with criminal street gangs.

(4 ART 818-819.) The prosecutor asked no questions of No. 2510083.

No. 2510083 had posed a possible hardship concerning a job interview,

ART 603.)

The prosecutor objected to No. 2510083 because of her youth and
lack of life experience. While conceding that that alone would not be
reason enough, he added that some of her answers lacked sophistication.
The prosecutor called it a “tough call” because she had relatives in law

enforcement. He also cited concern about her hardship request. (5 ART

1057.)

3 The question posed to all jurors regarding possible conflicts or bias
related to criminal street gangs, not gangs in general. (2 ART 299-300.)
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5. No. 2647624.

No. 2647624 was a high school food services worker, and a widow
with four adult children. No. 2647624 had two nephews (with whom she
had only been close in the past until they were age 13), who were
incarcerated for gang related crimes, and had nieces whose sons were
involved in gangs. (4 ART 772-773,798.) No. 2647624 averred that she

could separate these circumstances from the case and be impartial in

deliberations. (4 ART 773-774.)

what gangs her nephews belonged and that she had not had any

conversations with the one nephew, with whom she maintains contact,
about his gang activities. She also had heard some things about gangs
related to her niece. (4 ART 798.) No. 2647624 conceded that because of
the gang charges, this might not be the right case for her, though it was
not because she had any sympathy for the defendants. After further
exploration, it appeared that No. 2647624 was merely somewhat
uncomfortable with the violent subject matter of the case. (4 ART 799-

801.)
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The prosecutor justified his challenge on the basis of No.
2647624's association with family members involved with gangs and
doubts she could separate this from her deliberations. (5 ART 1058.)

6. No. 2723471.

No. 2723471 was a teacher. She lived in Wasco, was divorced and
had no children. Her ex-husband was a correctional officer, had other
relatives in correctional careers, and had an uncle who is a highway
patrol. (3 ART 720-721.) Neither she nor any one close to her had any

The prosecutor asked No. 2723471 only one question: whether she |
was aware of any gangs active in Wasco. She answered no.

(3 ART 731.)

In explaining his challenge, the prosecutor admitted his choice was
difficult—as evidenced by passing the lpanel with her still on it—but
ultimately decided to remove her for the same reason he did for No.
2408196. He added that he was also “dissatisfied by some of her other
answers as to how she would respond when she hears that Trevino is from

a criminal street gang . . . out of Wasco.” (5 ART 1058-1059.)
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7. No. 2291529.

No. 2291529 was employed by the City of Bakersfield as
mechanic. He is single and has one adult child. Neither he nor anyone
close to him had experiences with criminal street gangs. His brother was
the unintended victim of a homicide in a bar 20 years ago. The
perpetrator was apprehended and No. 2291529 had no opinion regarding
how the matter was resolved. (3 ART 535-536.)

The prosecutor asked No. 2291529 about only one subject. It

stop by sheriff’s deputies due to expired registration tags observed on his

truck. (3 ART 536-537, 558, 567.) No. 2291529's truck was parked when
the tags were noticed, and ultimately six deputies were called to the scene
where his vehicle was searched. He received a ticket for the expired tags.
(3 ART 536-537.) Both during questioning by the court and again by the
prosecutor, No. 2291529 stated he could set the incident aside as a juror
and that he bore no ill will over the matter. (3 ART 538, 567.)

The prosecutor asserted that No.2547226 seemed more affected by

the sheriff’s incident than his brother’s death. (5 ART 1059-1060.)
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8. No. 2468219.

No. 2468219 is a letter carrier for the U.S. Postal Service, with two
adult children, and a husband employed as a welder. (2 ART 460.) No.
2468219's mother had owned a home in an area of gang activity, and No.
2468219 lived there a “couple” of years before moving out to start her
own family. Although she had not personally seen any gang violence, she
had viewed news reports of shootings in the area. (2 ART 300-301.) She

denied that anything related to gang activity would render her impartial.

they could be innocuous. (3 ART 502.)

The prosecutor asserted that No. 2468219 lived in an area with a lot
of gang activity, her brother had been prosecuted, and she was a member
of a hung jury in a criminal matter. (5 ART 1061.)

9. No. 2852410.

No. 2852410 was employed by Sam’s Club, had a significant-other
who was a correctional officer, had an uncle and cousin employed by the
sheriff’s department, and had a number of friends employed by the
Bakersfield Police Department, with whom he socialized regularly. (2
ART 432, 454-455.) He had what he described as a “bad” or “unpleasant”

experience with law enforcement when he was the subject of a vehicle
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stop and searched because his vehicle matched the description of a stolen
vehicle. Nevertheless the officers’ conduct did not bother him. (2 ART
432-433))

The prosecutor claimed No. 2852410 bore resentment toward law
enforcement as a result of the slow response to a burglary he suffered as
well as the vehicle stop. (5 ART 1062.)

10.  No. 2547226.

No. 2547226 was a service coordinator in a program for mentally

minor children. (2 ART 462.)

In explaining his justification the prosecutor admitted he had only
one note regarding No. 2547226 and that it reflected his doubts about her
articulation of a juror’s role in deliberations and her willingness to speak
her mind. (5 ART 1062.) No. 2547226 stated she would not have any

difficulty explaining her position to others in the jury. (3 ART 490-492.)
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D. The Trial Court Erred by Denying the Motion
Because the Prosecutor’s Justifications Were
Inherently Implausible and Unsupported by the
Record.
1. Juror-by-Juror Analysis.
The trial court failed to conduct the necessary “sincere” and
“reasoned” inquiry to determine if the challenged Hispanic jurors would
really be biased based on their relatives’ involvement in gang activity or

the juror’s prior knowledge of gang activity.

The prosecutor asserted his belief that four of challenged Hispanic

jurors would be biased against the prosecution based on their relatives’
involvement in gang activity or the juror’s prior knowledge of gang
activity. (No. 2632053, No. 2732073, No. 2647624, No. 2568219.)
But No. 2647624 had very attenuated relationships with relatives involved
in gangs and No. 2568219 had lived only a very short time in a gang
neighborhood. None of these experiences could reasonably have imparted
prejudicial knowledge of gang activities.

Comparative analysis of unchallenged jurors with exposure to
gangs disposes of the bona fides as to challenged jurors with gang

exposure. (People v. Johnson (1978) 22 Cal.3d 296; 4 ART 819, 821-822
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[No. 2589394]; 3 ART 702-703 [No. 2861675]; 4 ART 898 [No.
2581907; 2 ART 459, 506 [No. 2546044].)

The prosecutor’s weak justifications as to others having no prior
connection to gang activity further establishes that his justifications were
pretextual. (People v. Turner, supra, 90 Cal.App.4th 413; 4 ART 819,
821-822 [No. 2589394]; 3 RT 702-703 [No. 2861675]; 4 ART 898 [No.
2581907]; 2 ART 459, 506 [No. 2546044].)

No. 2510083 and No. 2547226 were discriminatorily challenged

passive and non-verbal). (Compare No. 2510083 with No. 2861675 and

No. 2547226 with No. 2723471; 3 ART 701; 5 ART 1072-1073.)

Claims of perceived resentment toward law enforcement were also
pretextual and rebutted by comparative analysis. (Compare No. 2852410
and No. 2291529 with No. 2589394; 4 ART 819, 822-823.)

2. The Pattern of Challenges Also Reveals
Stereotyped Assumptions.

In addition to the foregoing analysis, the pattern of challenges to
Hispanic jurors who lived in communities that experience Hispanic gang
activity reveals a stereotypical assumptions that such citizens would be

sympéthetic to the aims and goals of Hispanic gangs. The lack of
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individualized scrutiny by the prosecutor before electing to challenge
Hispanic jurors, who for the most part had highly attenuated connections
to neighborhood gang activity or relatives involved in such, points
strongly to the underlying group bias. (Snyder v. Louisiana, supra, 552
U.S. 472))

In the cases where it was suggested that the potential Hispanic juror
had experience with gang activity (not through relatives), the indiyidual

had no more actual exposure with such activity than most citizens

would be just as likely to have viewed the activity as a scourge on the

peace-loving segment of the community. (Nos. 2732073, 2408196,
2647624, and 2468219.) And when two prospective jurors, No. 2408196
and No. 2723471, denied knowledge of gang activity in the rural
community of Wasco, they were removed due to the suspicion they would
be biased against the prosecution’s case, even though the prosecutor
presented no evidence of gang activity in Wasco, either through Harless or
Trevino.

Reflecting adoption of this stereotypical bias, the trial court

claimed there was “consistency” between the challenges to those having
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relatives with gang affiliations and those who were exposed to gang
activities by living in affected neighborhoods. (5 ART 1071.) Because
the underlying assumption that such life experience would interfere with
the prosecution’s case has neither a factual basis in the record, the only
conclusion is that the prosecution was relying on some belief in sympathy
to the defendants arising from an affinity based on ethnic background.*
(People v. Calvin, supra, 159 Cal.App.4th 1377; People v. Johnson,

supra, 22 Cal.3d 296; People v. Gonzalez (1989) 211 Cal.App.3d 1186.)

supported by the record, when analyzed individually and as a group, the

trial court erred by denying petitioner’s Batson-Wheeler motion.
CONCLUSION
For all of the foregoing reasons, petitioner respectfully requests

that the Court deem his federal constitutional issues exhausted for

4 Black and Hispanic gangs predominate in terms of their actual and
perceived presence in California. Their genesis was and continues to reflect
to some degree a response of protest by marginalized youth, living in
impoverished communities and lacking access to employment. (See, €.g., S.
Cummings & D. Monti, Gangs: The Origin and Impact of Contemporary
Youth Gangs in the United States (1993), pp. viii, 8-9, 11-12, 13-14.)
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purposes of future federal habeas corpus relief.

Dated: March 10, 2015 Respectfully submitted,

L re—

DONN GINOZA
Attorney for Petitioner
GABRIEL RAMOS
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APPEAL from a judgment of the Superior Court of Kern County. Michael E.
Dellostritto, Judge.

Janet J. Gray, under appointment by the Court of Appeal, for Defendant and
Appellant Ramiro Enriquez.

Donn Ginoza, under appointment by the Court of Appeal, for Defendant and
Appellant Gabriel Ramos.

Scott Concklin, under appointment by the Court of Appeal, for Defendant and
Appellant Rene Gutierrez, Jr.

Kamala D. Harris, Attorney General, Dane R. Gillette, Chief Assistant Attorney

General, Michael P. Farrell, Assistant Attorney General, Daniel B. Bernstein and Jennifer

-00000-

A jury convicted Ramiro Enriquez, Gabriel Ramos, and Rene Gutierrez, Jr.
(collectively, defendants) of attempted premeditated murder, assault with a firearm, and
active participation in a criminal street gang. The gang enhancement also was found true
as to Gutierrez and Enriquez. They raise multiple challenges to their convictions,
including insufficiency of the evidence, evidentiary error, instructional error,
prosecutorial misconduct, abuse of discretion to deny a mistrial motion, ineffective
assistance of counsel, and error pursuant to Batson v. Kentucky (1986) 476 U.S. 79
(Batson) and People v. Wheeler (1978) 22 Cal.3d 258 (Wheeler).

We reject their contentions and affirm the judgments.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL SUMMARY

On the evening of July 29, 2011, about 15 to 20 people were at Melissa Schuetze’s
apartment. Among those at the apartment were Gutierrez, Enriquez, and Kyle Fuller.
They were smoking marijuana and using methamphetamine.

Schuetze, Gutierrez, Enriquez, Fuller, and others drove to the Western Knights

Motel in Fuller’s red SUV to pick up more drugs. Prior to leaving, Gutierrez placed a
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sawed-off shotgun in the SUV; Schuetze saw the shotgun wedged between the front
passenger seat and the door. Fuller drove and Gutierrez and Schuetze were in the
backseat. On the way to the motel, Gutierrez gave Schuetze two shotgun shells, which
she placed in her bra.

When Fuller arrived at the motel, Gabriel Trevino and Ramos already were there.
Enriquez, Fuller, and three women went into a vacant room to smoke marijuana and
methamphetamine. Ramos joined the group, using drugs for a while, and then headed
outside. At some point, Enriquez and Gutierrez went outside as well.

Fuller heard Ramos starting an argument outside. Schuetze also could hear the

argument and looked outside. Gutierrez was in the area where the argument was

to go back inside. While in the doorway, Fuller could see Ramos arguing with a Black

man.

Ramos came up to the room and asked for a ride. Fuller went to his SUV and
climbed into the driver’s seat, Gutierrez got in the front passenger seat, and Enriquez and
Trevino got in the backseat. As Fuller drove away, Gutierrez pulled out a shotgun and
told him where to drive.

Gutierrez asked Enriquez what he wanted to do and Enriquez responded,
“[W]hatever you want to do my boy, whatever you want to do.” Gutierrez told Fuller to
stop and jumped out of the SUV. Gutierrez began firing at a Black man that looked like
the man Ramos had been arguing with in the motel parking lot. Gutierrez fired three
shots at the Black man, got back into the SUV, and they drove away.

As they drove away, Treviho instructed Fuller on where to drive until they arrived
ata house, where Trevino hid the shotgun. Enriquez took the keys from Fuller and drove
away; Gutierrez and Trevino took off walking; Fuller was told to stay at the house.

Fuller stayed for an hour or two and then left; he got his car back the next day.



Clarence Langston was shot just after midnight on July 30, 2011. Langston had
been to the motel several times before the night of the shooting. Langston rode his bike
to the motel that night looking for his wife and a friend. Langston was standing in the
parking lot of the motel talking to a Black man when they were interrupted by two
Hispanic men.

One of the Hispanic men asked Langston what he was doing in the parking lot,
which started an argument. When it looked like there was going to be a problem,
Langston left the parking lot on his bicycle. As he rode off, Langston heard someone
yelling.

Langston rode around the corner to a friend’s house and stopped and called his
passenger side of ared SUV. Langston turned to run and dropped his phone. Langston
heard a shotgun blast and then heard the shooter cock the gun and shoot again. Langston
was near the back of the house when he was hit with pellets. Langston ran around the
block and then back to the front of the house.

Just prior to the shooting, Langston’s wife, Joyce, received a call from Langston
asking her to meet him. She was in the vicinity and, when she turned onto Fourth Street,
she saw her husband across the street. Joyce saw a small, red SUV pull up. A Hispanic
man wearing a white shirt and jeans jumped out of the SUV with a shotgun; he had a
haircut that left very little hair on the sides and slightly more on top.

The shooter was about three feet from Langston when Langston took off running.
As Langston ran away, the shooter followed. Joyce started running but turned back
around in time to see the shooter get back into the SUV, which then drove away. She
heard a total of three gunshots being fired. After seeing the SUV drive away, Joyce went
to the friend’s house and called the police. Law enforcement arrived soon after.

| Langston was taken to Kern Medical Center. The injuries to Langston were on his

left side. Langston was interviewed by Police Officer Ryan Kroeker, who knew
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Langston from the past. Kroeker found Langston on a gurney in one of the trauma
rooms. Langston told Kroeker he was at the motel when he began talking to a Hispanic
male. He described this male as being 30 to 40 years old and having a thick mustache,
short hair, and a tattoo of the word “Bakers” across his back. The conversation got
heated and the two started arguing. The man looked up to the balcony of one of the
~ motel rooms and instructed the people there to “get the cuete,” which Langston knew
meant to get a gun. Langston got on his bike and rode out of the motel parking lot.
Langston saw ared SUV approach him and someone from the vehicle shot at him.
Kroeker thought the description of the Hispanic man with a thick mustache, short

hair, and a “Bakers” tattoo across his back fit Ramos, so he created a photographic lineup

in the lineup who looked like the man who had instructed others to get the gun; Langston

immediately pointed to Ramos’s picture. Langston was positive this was the same
person.

Fuller was arrested on August 21, 2011, in connection with Langston’s shooting.
He initially lied to officers, but later he identified Ramos as the person involved in the
argument that led to the shooting. Fuller was housed in the Lerdo Detention Facility,
where he came into contact with Ramos numerous times. Ultimately, Fuller pled no
contest to being an accessory to attempted murder and testified under an immunity
agreement. Fuller previously had been convicted of first degree burglary in 2007.

After signing the immunity agreement, Fuller came into contact with Ramos.
Ramos told Fuller to lie and testify that Ramos was not involved; if Fuller did so, nothing
would happen to his family. After these encounters, Fuller was afraid for his family.

Schuetze initially lied to police at the motel, as well as later at the police station.
She lied because she liked Gutierrez and wanted to protect him. She, however, did
identify Enriquez from a photographic lineup. She also told officers that after shots were

fired, Ramos came back into the motel room.
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Trevino was arrested September 1, 2011, in connection with the shooting. Trevino
identified Ramos, Gutierrez, and Enriquez from photographic lineups. Trevino gave a
recorded statement to law enforcement, which was consistent with his trial testimony.
Trevino was placed in protective custody. Trevino testified extensively at trial about the
Surefios gang, including subsets known as the Varrio Wasco Rifa; Varrio Bakers, and
Varrio Westside Shafters.

Langston testified at trial under an immunity agreement. Langston had suffered
prior convictions for failing to register as a sex offender, felony sexual battery, assault
with a firearm, and possession of a controlled substance for sale. Langston also had been

a gang member when he was younger.

Officer Travis Harless testified as a gang expert. Harless testiffed about the
Surefios géng and its various subsets. He also testified about the primary activities, gang
culture, and predicate offenses of the Surefios. Harless opined Ramos was an active
member of the Varrio Bakers subset of the Surefios, and Enriquez and Gutierrez were
active members of the Varrio Westside Shafters subset of the Surefios. Harless opinedl
that the shooting was done in association with the Surefios gang and it furthered the
criminal conduct of the gang.

Gutierrez was convicted of attempted premeditated murder in count 1, assault with
a firearm in count 2, and active participation in a criminal street gang in count 3. It also
was found true as to count 1 that Gutierrez personally used and discharged a firearm and
that the offense was committed in association with a criminal street gang. As to count 2,
the gang enhancement and personal use of a firearm enhancement were found true. ‘In a
bifurcated trial, it was found true that Gutierrez suffered a prior strike conviction and had
served three prior prison terms.

Enriquez was convicted of attempted premeditated murder in count 1, assault with
a firearm in count 2, and the active participation in a criminal street gang offense in count

3. As to count 1 it was found true that a principal personally and intentionally discharged



a firearm, and as to counts 1 and 2 it was found true that the offense was committed in
association with a criminal street gang. In a bifurcated proceeding, the trial court found
true that Enriquez had suffered a prior strike conviction.

Ramos was convicted by a jury of the count 3 offense, active participation in a
criminal street gang. The jury was unable to reach a verdict on the count 1 attempted
murder offense and the count 2 assault with a firearm offense, and the trial court declared
a mistrial as to these two counts. Thereafter, the trial court permitted the People to
amend the information to allege a fourth count, making criminal threats, and prior

conviction and prior prison term allegations. Ramos pled no contest to count 4 and

admitted the prior conviction and prior prison term enhancements as to counts 3 and 4.

count 3.
DISCUSSION

All three defendants challenge the trial court’s denial of the Batson/Wheeler
motion. Enriquez contends the trial court abused its discretion when it denied a mistrial
motion based upon comments made by a juror that tainted the venire.

Enriquez challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to establish (1) intent to kill
and premeditation and deliberation on the attempted murder charge, (2) aiding and
abetting attempted murder and assault with a firearm, (3) the gang enhanéements‘, (4) the
substantive gang offense, and (5) that his prior conviction constitutes a strike. He also
asserts instructional error in the giving of CALCRIM Nos. 337 and 3550 and in not
instructing the jury to determine whether Schuetze was an accomplice, and, if so, her
testimony had to be corroborated. He contends the trial court erred by admitting lay
opinion, allowing the gang expert (Harless) to opine that Enriquez was a gang member
based on the current offenses, the use of booking statements to determine gang status, a

contention Ramos joins, and in the lack of foundation for the gang expert’s testimony.



Enriquez also contends the prosecutor committed misconduct by vouching for witness
testimony and referring to matters outside the record.

Ramos challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to support the substantive gang
conviction and also contends, and Enriquez joins this contention, that he was denied due
process because he was convicted on less than substantial evidence. Ramos additionally
contends the gang registration requirement must be reversed because it was not part of |
the oral pronouncement of judgment.

Gutierrez contends there was insufficient evidence corroborating accomplice
testimony, which requires reversal of all convictions, as well as insufficient evidence of

intent to kill. He asserts ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to make objections to

misconduct by misstating the law, arguing facts not in evidence, stating one accomplice

can corroborate another, and vouching. He argues (1) instructional error, claiming the
trial court erred by instructing that potential punishment of a witness could not be
considered by a jury in assessing the truth of thé witness’s testimony, (2) CALCRIM No.
335 is incomplete, and (3) CALCRIM No. 302 lessens the prosecution’s bﬁrden of proof.
He also asserts cumulative error requires reversal.

Defendants have, in several instances, joined in issues raised by another defendant
in this case. When doing so, counsel are obligated to provide particularized legal
argument and citation to authority on each point raised. Counsel did not always fulfill
this obligation in their briefing. If not so briefed, this court may treat the issue as waived.
(People v. Bryant, Smith and Wheeler (2014) 60 Cal.4th 335, 363-364 (Bryant).)

Counsel in future cases should be on notice that we will not be inclined to address issues
in which a party has joined, absent particularized legal argument as to that party and

citation to authority for each point raised. (/bid.)



Regardless, we have attempted to address the issues in which a defendant has
joined with specificity as to that defendant. We, however, do not assume each defendant
has standing to raise each contention. (Bryant, supra, 60 Cal.4th at pp. 363-364.)

I. Batson/Wheeler

At trial, defense counsel made a Batson/Wheeler motion, claiming the prosecutor
engaged in racial discrimination when he exercised peremptory challenges against 10 of
11 potential Hispanic jurors. The trial court noted that the prosecutor had exercised
peremptory challenges against 16 potential jurors, of which nine or 10 appeared to be
Hispanic. The trial court found a prima facie case to be established, based largely upon

the percentage of Hispanics challenged, and the prosecutor was asked to justify the

and the trial court denied the motion.

On appeal, all three defendants contend the trial court erred in denying the
Batson/Wheeler motion and challenge the prosecutor’s exercise of peremptory challenges
against these jurors. Gutierrez asserts the peremptory challenges to three female potential
jurors, Nos. 2547226, 2723471, and 2510083, were improper. Enriquez and Ramos
contend all the challenges to Hispanics were racially motivated. We disagree.

Féderal law following Batson holds that exercising peremptory challenges solely
on the basis of race offends the Fourteenth Amendment’s guaranty of the equal protection
of the laws (U.S. v. Martinez-Salazar (2000) 528 U.S. 304, 315), and Wheeler holds that
such conduct violates a defendant’s right to trial by a jury drawn from a representative
cross-section of the community under article I, section 16 of the state Constitution
(Wheeler; supra, 22 Cal.3d at pp. 276-277).

- Excluding even a single prospective juror for reasons impermissible under Batson
and Wheeler requires reversal. (People v. Silva (2001) 25 Cal.4th 345, 386 (Silva).) And
although a party may exercise a peremptory challenge for any permissible reason or no

reason at all (Purkett v. Elem (1995) 514 U.S. 765, 768 (Purkett);, People v. Jones (1998)



17 Cal.4th 279, 294), “implausible or fantastic justifications may (and probably will) be
found to be pretexts for purposeful discrimination.” (Purkett, at p. 768).

In evaluating a trial court’s Batson/Wheeler ruling that a party has offered a race-
neutral basis for subjecting particular prospective jurors to peremptory challenge, we are
mindful that “‘Unless a discriminatory intent is inherent in the prosecutor’s explanation,
the reason offered will be deemed race neutral.” [Citation.]” (Purkett, supra, 514 U.S. at
p. 768; see, Silva, supra, 25 Cal.4th at pp. 385-386.) In a case in which deference is due,
“The trial court’s ruling on this issue is reviewed for substantial evidence. [Citation.]”

(People v. McDermott (2002) 28 Cal.4th 946, 971 (McDermott).)

On a Batson/Wheeler motion, “the issue is not whether there is a pattern of

challenged because of group bias. [Citation.]” (People v. Avila (2006) 38 Cal.4th 491,
549 (Avila).) At trial, the court and counsel follow a three-step constitutional analysis of
peremptory challenges. First, the defendant must make out a prima facie case by
showing that the totality of the relevant facts gives rise to an inference of discriminatory
purpose. Second, if the defendant makes out a prima facie case, the burden shifts to the
prosecution to give an adequate explanation of the peremptory challenges by offering
permissible neutral justifications. Third, if a neutral explanation is tendered, the trial
court must decide whether the opponent of the peremptory challenges has proved
purposeful discrimination. (Johnson v. California (2005) 545 U.S. 162, 168.)

Our duty after denial of a Batson/Wheeler motion without a finding of a prima
facie case is to consider the entire voir dire record before us. Since
Batson/Wheeler motions require a trial court’s personal observations, we give
considerable deference to the trial court’s rulings. (People v. Howard (1992) 1 Cal.4th
1132, 1155.) If the record suggests grounds on which the prosecutor reasonably might

have challenged the prospective jurors at issue, our duty is to affirm. (/bid.)
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It is presumed that the prosecutor uses peremptory challenvges in a constitutional
manner. We defer to the trial court’s ability to distinguish “bona fide reasons from sham
excuses.” (People v. Burgener (2003) 29 Cal.4th 833, 864.) As long as the trial court
makes “a sincere and reasoned effort to evaluate the nondiscriminatory justifications
offered, its conclusions are entitled to deference on appeal. [Citation.]” (/bid.)

The party seeking to justify a suspect excusal need only offer a genuine,
reasonably specific race- or group-neutral explanation related to the particular case being
tried. (People v. Fuentes (1991) 54 Cal.3d 707, 718 (Fuentes); People v. Johnson (1989)
47 Cal.3d 1194, 1216 (Johnson); People v. Hall (1983) 35 Cal.3d 161, 167-168; see
Batson, supra, 476 U.S. at pp. 97-98 & fn. 20.) The justification need not support a

(People v. Montiel (1993) 5 Cal.4th 877, 910, fn. 9; Johnson, at p. 1218.)

Here, race-neutral reasons for excusing the jurors are apparent from the record,
and the prosecutor articulated race-neutral reasons for excusing each of the challenged
jurors. That the prosecutor used many peremptory challenges to excuse Hispanics from
the jury does not by itself establish a prima facie case. (See People v. Box (2000) 23
Cal.4th 1153, 1188-1189.)

When asked about Prospective Juror No. 2547226 (hereafter Juror 2547226), the
prosecutor indicated he felt she might have trouble fulfilling her role aS a juror and in
understanding the role of a juror. When questioned during voir dire, Juror 2547226
indicated she was better at “listening than speaking my mind” and expressed that she did
not know how many jurors had to agree to a verdict in a criminal case.

Peremptory challenges properly may be based on the demeanor of the prospective
juror. (Pe‘ople v. Davenport (1995) 11 Cal.4th 1171, 1203.) Juror 2547226 gave
equivocal answers to some questions and expressed a lack of understanding of the jury
process in a criminal case. The prosecutor’s stated reasons reflect that, based upon Juror

2547226 equivocal answers to voir dire questions, he had doubts about her being able
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to engage fully in the déliberative process and fulfill her role as a juror. A prosecutor
may excuse a juror based upon “hunches,” so long as the reason is not impermissible
group bias. (People v. Gutierrez (2002) 28 Cal.4th 1083, 1122 (Guvtz'errez).)

As to Prospective Juror No. 2723471 (hereafter Juror 2723471), the prosecutor
indicated he exercised a peremptory challenge against her because she professed to being
unaware of any gang activity occurring in Wasco, where she lived. This troubled the
prosecutor because a principal witness, Trevino, was a member of a criminal street gang
in Wasco and the prosecutor was concerned how Juror 2723471 would react to testimony
from a Wasco gang member. This is a race-neutral reason that need not rise to the level
of a challenge for cause. Moreover, it constitutes a valid reason, even if in a defendant’s

| Prospective Juror No. 2510083 (hereafter Juror 2510083) was excused by the
prosecutor because she had claimed a hardship in serving, even though the trial court did
not excuse her based on hardship. This constitutes a valid race-neutral reason for
excusing the juror on a peremptory challenge. (See People v. Barber (1988) 200
Cal.App.3d 378, 398; People v. Landry (1996) 49 Cal.App.4th 785, 789.)

Prospective Juror No. 2632053 had participated in gang activity and had been
around gangs in Idaho. She had a child fathered by a Surefios gang member, who had
been found guilty of being an accessory to murder. This prospective juror’s brother was
a member of the ’Eastside Locos gang. The prosecutor explained that he exercised a
peremptory challenge against this potential juror because her brother and the father of
one of her children were gang members, both of whom had been convicted of
gang-related crimes, even though the prospective juror was trying to change her life and
stay away from the gang lifestyle. This explanation supports a race-neutral reason for
exercising a peremptory challenge. (People v. Williams (1997) 16 Cal.4th 153, 191.)

Prospective Juror No. 2732073’s husband had always been affiliated with a gang

and had been convicted and incarcerated for offenses. Also, her father was a gang

12.



member. The prosecutor exercised a peremptory challenge against this prospective juror
because of the gang connections. Again, this is a race-neutral reason for exercising a
peremptory challenge. (People v. Williams, supra,\ 16 Cal.4th at p. 191.)

Prospective Juror No. 2408196 was married to a juvenile correctional officer and
worked at Wasco State Prison as a records technician. She also had an uncle who had
been a gang member and a cousin who was a former public defender. About two years
earlier, her house had been burglarized and she was unhappy with how law enforcement
had handled the matter. Although she had lived in Wasco her entire life, she claimed to
be unaware of any gang activity occurring in Wasco. The prosecutor stated that he had

excused this prospective juror because she had an uncle who was a member of a criminal

prosecutor thought might affect her view of Trevino’s testimony. Once more, the gang

connection constitutes a race-neutral reason for exercising a peremptbry challenge.
(People v. Williams, supra, 16 Cal.4th at p. 191.)

Prospective Juror No. 2647624 had two nephews who were serving prison
sentences for gang-related crimes. She also had nieces who had sons that currently were
involved in gang activity. Again, the prosecutor stated he exercised a peremptory
challenge against this prospective juror because of the gang connections, which is a valid
race-neutral reason. (People v. Williams, supra, 16 Cal.4th at p. 191.)

Prospective Juror No. 2291529 had a brother who had been killed in a bar fight 20
years earlier. He did not know if the investigation into his brother’s death was handled
appropriately. More recently, he had been the subject of a vehicle stop by an officer that
escalated into six officers on the scene and it “got out of hand.” He was unhappy about
the vehicle stop and the way it had been handled by the officers. The prosecutor
indicated he challenged this prospective juror because of the negative experience with
law enforcement over the vghicle stop and he appeared to be more affected by this

incident than his brother’s death. A peremptory challenge based on a negative experience
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with law enforcement is a proper race-neutral reason. (People v. Turner (1994) 8 Cal.4th
137, 171, overruled on other grounds in People v. Griffin (2004) 33 Cal.4th 536, 555, fa.
5.)

Prospective Juror No. 2468219 previously had been a juror in a criminal case that
resulted in a hung jury; she also had sat on a civil jury that reached a verdict. In addition,
her brother had been in trouble from time to time with the law and at the time of the trial
her brother had violated probation and had a matter pending. When asked why he had
exercised a peremptory against this prospective juror, the prosecutor noted the problems

the prospective juror’s brother had had with law enforcement and her sitting as a juror in

a criminal trial that did not reach a verdict. Again, the prosecutor’s explanations were
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Finally, Prospective Juror No. 2852410 had had two separate contacts with law
enforcement that this juror viewed as negative experiences. Once again, a prospective
juror’s negative experiences with law enforcement can serve as a valid basis for a
peremptory challeﬁge. (Gutierrez, supra, 28 Cal.4th at p- 1125.)

Defendants wish us to engage in a comparative analysis regarding the
prosecution’s use, or failure to use, peremptory challenges on specific jurors. We do not
engage in a comparative analysis of various juror responses to evaluate the good faith of
the prosecutor’s stated reasons for excusing a particular juror “because comparative
analysis of jurors unrealistically ignores ‘the variety of factors and considerations that go
into a lawyer’s decision to select certain jurors while challenging others that appear to be

293

similar.”” (Fuentes, Supra, 54 Cal.3d at pp. 714-715, quoting Johnson, supra, 47 Cal.3d
at pp. 1219, 1220.) “The purpose of peremptory challenges is to allow a party to exclude
prospective jurors who the party believes may be consciously or unconsciously biased
against him or her. [Citation.]” (People v. Jackson (1992) 10 Cal.App.4th 13,17.)

“We accord great deference to a trial court’s determination of the sufficiency of a

prosecutor’s explanations for exercising peremptory challenges. [Citations.]” (People v.
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Williams (1997) 16 Cal.4th 635, 666.) The focus of a Batson/Wheeler analysis is on the
subjective genuineness of the reason, not the objective reasonableness. (People v.
Reynoso (2003) 31 Cal.4th 903, 924.) The trial court noted the prosecutor had quéstioned
all potential jurors in a similar fashion and had asked questions designed to elicit
information regarding suitability to serve on a jury. The trial court analyzed the
prosecutor’s responses and the challenged jurors’ responses to voir dire and found the
prosecutor had race-neutral reasons for dismissing the challenged jurors. We conclude
substantial record evidence supports the trial court’s ruling. Therefore, we will not

reverse the trial court’s denial of the Batson/Wheeler motion.

IL Jury Venire Motion

officer for 22 years and believed that street gangs and prison gangs were connected, that
tattoos tell a story, and she was inclined to believe officers over other witnesses. Defense
counsel argued that the comments from this juror had tainted the entire venire by
expressing a connection between street gangs and prison gangs. Defense couﬁsel moved
to discharge the entire venire and begin voir dire with a new venire. The trial court
denied the motion, stating, “I don’t have an issue believing regardless of what
[Prospective Juror No. 2589394] says, the jury wouldn’t be able to follow the law in this
particular case, even though, in fact” the comments might coincide with what the gang
expert would offer as an opinion. All of the defendants excused this juror.

Enriquez and Ramos contend the trial court abused its discretion in denying the
motion to discharge the entire venire. We disagree. |

The California Supreme Court has held that dismissal of the entire venire is a
drastic measure to be taken only in extreme cases. “We believe the trial court possesses
broad discretion to determine whether or not possible bias or prejudice against the
defendant has contaminated the entire venire to such an extreme that its discharge is

required. Defendant cites no case, and we have found none, indicating that such a drastic
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remedy is appropriate as a matter of course merely because a few prospective jurors have
made inflammatory remarks.... [D]ischarging the entire venire is a remedy that should
be reserved for the most serious occasions of demonstrated bias or prejudice, where
interrogation and removal of the offending venirepersons would be insufficient protection
fér the defendant.” (People v. Medina (1990) 51 Cal.3d 870, 889 (Medina).)

Here, the trial court was within its discretion in denying the motion to excuse the
entire venire. Instances with much more inflammatory comments have not warranted a
discharge of the entire venire. (People v. Martinez (1991) 228 Cal. App.3d 1456, 1468-
1473 [statements before venire about defendant being guilty because he was arrested and

in court and prosecutor must have strong case]; People v. Henderson (1980) 107

patient}; People v. Vernon (1979) 89 Cal.App.3d 853, 865 [prospective juror stated

defendant had been tried for raping her niece].)

As the trial court stated, there was no indication that the remarks by one juror
would afféct the venire and render them unable to follow the jury instructions that would
be issued by the trial court. There was no error.

I11. Evidentiéry Issues

Enriquez raises three evidentiary issues, in which Ramos has joined. First, they
contend the trial court erred in allowing the gang expert to testify about the Westside
Shafters subset of the Surefios because there was a lack of foundation for his testimony.
Second, they claim it was error to allow the gang expert to opine that they were active
members of the Surefios gang based upon their involvement in the current offenses. They
also contend it was error to allow Trevino to offer a lay opinion on gangs. Not separately
identified as an issue, but challenged by Ramos and Enriquez in their discussion of

issues, is the admissibility of statements made during jail bookings regarding gang status.
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Foundation Challenge

At trial, Harless was allowed to testify as a gang expert. Harless was asked about
the nature of the contact between the Varrio Bakers and the Westside Shafters gangs;
defense counsel objected on the basis of foundation. The trial court overruled the
objection. Harless was allowed to testify that the two gangs commit crimes together.
Enriquez and Ramos contend this was error.

A trial court is given “‘considerable latitude in determining the qualifications of an
expert and its ruling will not be disturbed on appeal unless a manifest abuse of discretion
is shown. (People v. Singh (1995) 37 Cal.App.4th 1343, 1377.) In Singh, a prosecution

for fraud in staging accidents for the purpose of submitting false insurance claims, the

officers, even though they had not personally investigated the automobiles involved or

the accident scenes, relying instead only on statements of witnesses and various reports.
The appellate court noted, “Such an approach is not uncommon ... when expert
witnesses become involved at trial” and that deficiencies in the foundation of the expert’s
opinions properly were explored on cross-examination. (/bid.)

In People v. Hogan (1982) 31 Cal.3d 815, the Supreme Court reversed a
conviction for capital murder, in part because a criminalist was allowed to testify about
blood spatter patterns when his experience and training in that area were “nonexistent.”

(Id. at p. 852.) He had never performed any laboratory analysis in any case; he had
received no formal education or training; and his background on the subject consisted of
reading a book on flight patterns of blood and viewing an exhibit prepared by “some
unknown criminalist” that demonstrated patterns of human blood dropped from various
heights and angles. (]bz‘d.) Finally, while he had observed bloodstains at many crime
scenes; and had determined in his own mind whether they were spatters or “wipes,” he

had never verified his conclusions in any way.
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In contrast, Harless had been assigned to the gang unit for over two years as of the
time of the trial, and part of his duties included testifying as a gang expert at criminal
trials in Kern County. He had received 90 hours of formalized training on gangs, with
over half that training time focused on Hispanic gangs. Harless provided gang training to
recruits at the police academy. He was a member of the Kern County Gang Investigators
Association, an organization of various law enforcement agencies that share information
about gangs and gang trends. Harless specialized in Black and Hispanic gangs and had
testified as a gang expert 38 times prior to his testimony in defendants’ trial.

Based upon the above credentials, the trial court allowed Harless to testify as an

13341

expert witness.

Where a witness has disclosed sufficient knowledge of the subject to

more to the weight of the evidence than its admissibility.” [Citation.]” (People v.
Bolin (1998) 18 Cal.4th 297, 322.) Here, sufficient training, education, and experience
supported the trial court’s decision to allow Harless to testify as an expert; any claimed
deficiency of knowledge about the Westside Shafters subset of Surefios was appropriate
for cross-examination and relevant to the weight that should be afforded the testimony.

Active Gang Member Testimony

- Enriquez and Ramos next contend the trial court violated their right to due process
when it allowed Harless to testify they were active Surefios gang members based upon
the current offenses. They argue that allowing Harless to testify that in his opinion they
were active gang members constituted allowing Harless to testify to his opinion on how
the case should be decided and was based on erroneous information.

Expert opinion testimony is admissible if the subject matter of the testimony is
“sufficiently beyond common experience that the opinion of an expert would assist the
trier of fact.” (Evid. Code, § 801, subd. (a); see People v. Gardeley (1996) 14 Cal.4th
605, 617.) The subject matter of the culture and habits of street gangs meets the criteria

for the admissibility of expert opinion because such evidence is sufficiently beyond
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common experience that the opinion of an expert would assist the trier of fact.
(Gardeley, at p. 617.) Such areas include “testimony about the size, composition or
existence of a gang [citations], gang turf or territory [citations], an individual defendant’s
membership in, or association with, a gang [citations], the primary activities of a specific
gang [citations], motivation for a particular crime, generally retaliation or intimidation
[citations], whether and how a crime was committed to benefit or promote a gang
[citations], rivalries between gangs [citation], gang-related tattoos, gang graffiti and hand
signs [citations], and gang colors or attire [citations].” (People v. Killebrew (2002) 103
Cal.App.4th 644, 657, italics added, fns. omitted.)

A gang expert may testify concerning whether the defendant was a gang member

decide, because these are matters far beyond the common experience of the jury and
justified expert testimony. (People v. Valdez (1997) 58 Cal.App.4th 494, 508-510.)
Consequently, there was no due process violation by allowing Harless to testify that in
his opinion Enriquez and Ramos were current gang members.

We do not find support in the record for the claim that Harless relied upon
inaccurate information or just the alleged participation in the current offenses in reaching
this opinion. In opining that Enriquez was a gang member, Harless relied upon reports of
prior law enforcement contacts with Enriquez, in which he admitted gang membership in
the Varrio Westside Shafters gang. Harless also noted Enriquez’s gang moniker and
gang tattoos as informing his opinion. Although Harless also noted that the current
offenses were committed in the company of and with the assistance of other Surefios
gang members, and that Trevino testified Enriquez was a member of the Varrio Westside
Shafters subset of the Surefios, this information clearly was not the only basis for
Harless’s opinion.

Harless also opined that Ramos was an active member of the Varrio Bakers subset

of the Surefios. Again, the alleged participation in the current offenses was not the sole
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basis for the opinion. In prior contacts with law enforcement, Ramos had acknowledged
gang membership, had used a gang moniker, wore gahg indicia, and was in the company
of other gang members. Ramos had claimed Surefios affiliation multiple times when
booked into jail.

There was no error in allowing expert opinion that Ramos and Enriquez were
members of the Varrio Bakers and Varrio Westside Shafters, respectively.

Booking Statements

Enriquez and Ramos challenge the admissibility and use of their statements during
jail bookings regarding gang affiliation. To assure protection of the Fifth Amendment

privilege against self-incrimination, a suspect may not be subjected to an interrogation

intelligently waived his or her rights to silence, to the presence of an attorney, and to

appointed counsel if he or she is indigent. Statements made in violation of Miranda! are
inadmissible to establish guilt. (People v. Esqueda (1993) 17 Cal.App.4th 1450, 1480-
1481.)

In Pennsylvania v. Muniz (1990) 496 U.S. 582, a four-justice plurality recognized
“a ‘routine booking question’ exception which exempts from Miranda’s coverage
questions to secure the ‘“biographical data necessary to complete booking or pretrial
services.””” (Id. at p. 601 (plur. opn. of Brennan, J.).) Questioning about possible gang
affiliations for housing purposes is now a routine question that is asked at booking. “The
routine booking interview is an indispensable procedure in the efficient administration of
justice.” (People v. Quiroga (1993) 16 Cal.App.4th 961,'971.)

Questioning about gang affiliations is a security question that must be asked to

facilitate safe housing in the jails. Both Enriquez and Ramos answered booking

1Miranda v. Arizona (1966) 384 U.S. 436.

20.



questions on gang affiliation when booked into jail on charges unrelated to the current
offenses.

Furthermore, section 1220 of the Evidence Code provides an exception to the
hearsay rule for statements that are offered against the declarant in an action to which he
or she is a party. Tﬁe statements of gang affiliation made at jail bookings are admissible
under this exception. As a statutory excéption to the hearsay rule, an admission is
considered reliable. (People v. Earnest (1975) 53 Cal.App.3d 734, 741.)

It was not error to permit Harless to rely upon statements of gang affiliation made

at jail bookings.

Trevino Lay Opinion

being part of the Surefios, (3) the subsets of Surefios in Kern County of which he was
aware, (4) the connection between Surefios inside and outside of prison, (5) the structure
and hierarchy of the Surefios, (6) the use of gang monikers, (7) the induction of gang
members, and (8) the activity of gang members after induction. Enriquez, joined by
Ramos, argues that the trial court violated his due process rights by allowing Trevino to
offer a lay opinion on matters of which he had no personal knowledge. Again, we find
no support for this contention in the récord.

At the time of the offenses, Trevino was a member of the Varrio Wasco Rifa, a
subset of the Surefios. He had been inducted into the gang and a member for 20 years
and during that time had committed offenses for the benefit of the gang. Trevino had
been given authority and influence over activities of gang members in his neighborhood.
Also during this time, Trevino came into contact with members of other subsets of the
Surefios and committed crimes with members of other subsets. While in prison, Trevino
had contact with other Surefios about criminal activity occurring in and out of the prison.
Trevino had spoken with Enriquez, Gutierrez, and Ramos, and each identified his gang

subset to Trevino.
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Enriquez and Ramos also claim that Trevino was not a member of the Mexican

Mafia and therefore could not testify to its hierarchy. We disagree. Trevino, as a 20-year
member, could testify to his understanding of the hierarchy of the Surefios and the
hierarchy involved the Mexican Mafia. The claim that Trevino was from Wasco, an area
geographically separate from Bakersfield and Shafter, and therefore somehow not able to
offer a lay opinion, also fails. Trevino could, and did, testify about matters to which he
had personal knowledge. Any contention that his testimony should not be credited
because of his location in Wasco goes to the weight, not admissibility. (Medina, supra,

51 Cal.3d at p. 887.)

The admissibility of lay opinion is reviewed for abuse of discretion. (People v.

IV. Insufficiency of the Evidence

All three defendants raise challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence. Enriquez
and Gutierrez challenge the sufficiency of the evidence of intent to kill. Enriquez also
challenges the sufficiency of the evidence of premeditation and deliberation, aiding and
abetting attempted murder, aiding and abetting assault with a firearm, the gang
enhancements, and that his prior conviction constituted a strike offense. Enriquez and
Ramos challenge the sufficiency of the evidence supporting the substantive gang offense |
and contend they were denied due process because they were convicted on less than
substantial evidence. Gutierrez contends there was insufficient corroboration of
accomplice testimony; consequently, all the convictions must be reversed.

We disagree with all these contentions.

Standard of Review

The standards that govern review of the sufficiency of the evidence supporting
convictions also apply to enhancements. (People v. Albillar (2010) 51 Cal.4th 47, 59-60
(Albillar).) The standard of review is familiar -- ““““When the sufficiency of the evidence

is challenged on appeal, the court must review the whole record in the light most
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favorable to the judgment to determine whether it contains substantial evidence—i.e.,
evidence that is credible and of solid value—from which a rational trier of fact could
have found the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.”
Hill (1998) 17 Cal.4th 800, 848-849; see People v. Villalobos (2006) 145 Cal.App.4th

310, 321-322; People v. Duran (2002) 97 Cal.App.4th 1448, 1456-1457.)

[Citations.]” (People v.

This familiar standard gives full play to the responsibility of the trier of fact to
resolve conflicts in the testimony, to weigh the evidence, and to draw reasonable
inferences from basic facts to ultimate facts. “Once a defendant has been found guilty of
the crime charged, the factfinder’s role as weigher of the evidence is preserved through a

legal conclusion that upon judicial review all of the evidence is to be considered in the

“Before a judgment of conviction can be set aside for insufficiency of the evidence to

support the trier of fact’s verdict, it must clearly appear that upon no hypothesis whatever
is there sufficient evidence to support it.” (People v. Réhmeyer (1993) 19 Cal.App.4th
1758, 1765.) |

““It is axiomatic that an appellate court defers to the trier of fact .on such
determinations, and has no power to judge the effect or value of, or to weigh the
evidence; to consider the credibility of witnesses; or to resolve conflicts in, or make
inferences or deductions from the evidence. We review a cold record and, unlike a trial
court, have no opportunity to observe the appearance and demeanor of the witnesses.
[Cftationj “Issues of fact and credibility are questions for the trial court.” [Citations.] It
is not an appellate court’s function, in short, to redetermine the facts.””. (In re S.A4.(2010)
182 Cal.App.4th 1128, 1140, quoting In re Sheila B. (1993) 19 Cal.App.4th 187, 199-
200.)

The defendant has the burden of showing there is no evidence of a sufficiently
substantial nature to support the verdict. (In re Cole C. (2009) 174 Cal.App.4th 900, 915-
916.)
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Accomplice Testimony

Gutierrez and Enrique contend the evidence was insufficient to corroborate the
testimony of accomplices Fuller and Trevino.

Adequate corroboration of an accomplice’s testimony need not in itself be
sufficient to convict the defendant; it may be slight and entitled to little consideration
when standing alone. (People v. Rodrigues (1994) 8 Cal.4th 1060, 1128 (Rodrigues);
People v. Douglas (1990) 50 Cal.3d 468, 507 (Douglas).) It need only “fend[] to connect
the defendant with the crime so that the jury may be satisfied that the accomplice is
telling the truth.” (Douglas, at p. 506, fn. omitted.) The corroborating evidence may be
circumstantial and may consist of a defendant’s conduct or statements. (/d. at p. 507.) It
Cal.App.3d 865, 875.)

The corroborating evidence must tend to cbnnect the defendant to the crime, but it
neither has to establish every element of the offense nor corroborate all of the
accomplice’s testimony. (People v. Heishman (1988) 45 Cal.3d 147, 164-165
(Heishman).) Although the corroborating evidence need only tend to connect the
defendant to the crime, it must do more than raise a mere conjecture or suspicion of guilt.

(People v. Szeto (1981) 29 Cal.3d 20, 27.) “[I]t is not sufficient to merely connect a
defendant with the accomplice or other persons participating in the crime. The evidence
must connect the defendant with the crime, not simply with its perpetrators.

[Citations.]” (People v. Falconer (1988) 201 Cal.App.3d 1540, 1543.)

“A defendant’s own conduct, declarations and testimony may furnish adequate

b2

corroboration for the testimony of an accomplice.”” (People v. Williams, supra, 16
Cal.4th at p. 680; accord, Avila, supra, 38 Cal.4th at p. 563 [“Defendant’s initial attempt
to conceal from the police his involvement in the activities culminating in the murders
implied consciousness of guilt constituting corroborative evidence.”].) False and

contradictory statements of a defendant regarding the charge are material corroborating

24,



evidence. (People v. Santo (1954) 43 Cal.2d 319, 327; People v. Taylor (1924) 70
Cal.App. 239, 244; People v. McLean (1890) 84 Cal. 480, 481 [accomplice testimony
sufficiently corroborated by evidence the defendant “made contradictory statements
concerning his whereabouts on the night of the fire” and “took measures to get the
accomplice to leave that part of the country”].)

““The trier of fact’s determination on the issue of corroboration is binding on the
reviewing court unless the corroborating evidence should not have been admitted or does
not reasonably tend to connect the defendant with the commission of the crime.’

[Citations.]” (People v. Abilez (2007) 41 Cal.4th 472, 505 (4bilez),; McDermott, supra,
28 Cal.4th at p. 986; see People v. Narvaez (2002) 104 Cal. App.4th 1295, 1303.)
placing them at the scene of the crime, that Gutierrez was the shooter, and that Enriquez
was present in the SUV at the time of the shooting.

Schuetze testified Gutierrez was in her apartment and had gone with her and
others in Fuller’s SUV to the motel to pick up drugs. Schuetze saw the shotgun in the
SUV as they drove to the motel. Gutierrez gave hef shotgun shells to hold. At the motel,
Schuetze heard Ramos and Langston arguing. She saw the SUV leave; Gutierrez and
Enriquez no longer were at the motel. She heard gunshots shortly thereafter. Langston
identified the person he was arguing with as Ramos. Langston also stated that he was
pursued and shot by someone riding in the SUV. This evidence, taken together, was
sufficient to “tend to connect” Gutierrez and Enriquez to the offenses; it need not be
sufficient by itself to warrant a conviction. (Rodrigues, supra, 8 Cal.4th at p. 1128,
Douglas, supra, 50 Cal.3d at p. 506.)

While Gutierrez especially attempts to assert that there is a lack of corroborating
evidence for specific facts, it is well established that independent evidence need not

corroborate every fact. (Heishman, supra, 45 Cal.3d at pp. 164-165.) The jury’s
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determination on the issue of corroboration is binding on this court. (4bilez, supra, 41 |
Cal.4th at p. 505.)

Intent to Kill

Enriquez and Gutierrez both challenge the sufficiency of the evidence of intent to
kill. Gutierrez was the shooter; Enriquez was conviéted based upon an aiding and
abetting theory.

“Attempted murder requires the specific intent to kill and the commission of a
direct but ineffectual act toward accomplishing the intended killing. [Citation.]” (People
v. Lee (2003) 31 Cal.4th 613, 623 (Lee).) Enriquez and Gutierrez contend the evidence

was insufficient to establish intent to kill.

“[I]t is well settled that intent to Kill or express malice, the mentat state Tequired to
convict a defendant of attempted murder, may in many cases be inferred from the
defendant’s acts and the circumstances of the crime. [Citation.] ‘There is rarely direct
evidence of a defendant’s intent. Such intent must usually be derived from all the
circumstances of the attempt, including the defendant’s actions....””

Smith (2005) 37 Cal.4th 733, 741 (Smith).)

(People v.

“[TThe act of purposefully firing a lethal weapon at another human being at close
range, without legal excuse, generally gives rise to an inference that the shooter acted
with express malice. That the shooter had no particular motive for shooting the victim is
not dispositive, although ... where motive is shown, such evidence will usually be
probative of proof of intent to kill. Nor is the circumstance that the bullet misses its mark
or fails to prove lethal dispositive—the very act of firing a weapon *““in a manner that

333

could have inflicted a mortal wound had the bullet been on target™ is sufficient to

support an inference of intent to kill. [Citation.]” (Smith, supra, 37 Cal.4th at p. 742.)
Gut.ierrez claims the evidence of intent to kill is insufficient because his first shot

missed Langston and the second shot was with a shell containing birdshot, which

Gutierrez contends could not have killed Langston unless he was shot at close range.
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We summarily dispense with Gutierrez’s contention that there was no intent to kill
because his first shot missed Langston. That the bullet misses its mark or fails to prove
lethal is not dispositive—the “yery act of firing a weapon <« a manner that could have
inflicted a mortal wound had the bullet been on target™” is sufficient to support an
inference of intent to kill. (Smith, supra, 37 Cal.4th at p. 742.) Missing his target merely
demonstrates that Gutierrez may have been a poor shot, not that he lacked intent to kill.

Gutierrez’s claim that he Jacked an intent to kill because his second shot was with
a shell full of buckshot also is rejected. Gutierrez fired at least three shots while pursuing
Langston, who was attempting to get away; only one shot struck Langston. The act of

firing multiple shots while pursuing Langston as he attempted to get away clearly

supports an inference that Gutierrez was attempting to kill Langston. (People V. Lashtey
(1991 1 Cal. App.4th 938, 945-946 (Lashley).) Again, Gutierrez’s poor marksmanship
and inability to get closer to Langston as Langston was fleeing do not compel a
" conclusion that Gutierrez lacked intent to kill. (Ibid.)
| As for Enriquez, “to be guilty of attempted murder as an aider and abettor, a
person must give aid or encouragement with knowledge of the direct perpetrator’s intent
1o kill and with the purpose of facilitating the direct perpetrator’s accomplishment of the
intended k1111ng———wh1ch means that the person guilty of attempted murder as an aider and
abettor must intend to kill. [Citation.]” (Lee supra, 31 Cal. 4th at p. 624.) Enriquez
raises a similar contention as Gutierrez in asserting lack of an“mtent to kill, specifically,
that shooting at someone with birdshot could not have resulted in the person’s death. As
we noted previously, however, just because a shot misses the intended victim, or is not
fatal, does not, as a matter of law, mandate a conclusion there was no intent to kill.
(Smith, supra, 37 Cal.4th at p. 742; Lashley, supra, 1 Cal.App.4th at pp. 945-946.)

The case of People v. Campbell (1994) 25 Cal.App.4th 402 is instructive. In
Campbell, codefendant Smith’s convictions for aiding and abetting an attempted robbery

and attempted murder were upheld based on his presence during the robbery and his
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postoffense conduct. During the robbery, codefendant Campbell produced a handgun
and aimed it at the victim. On appeal, Smith claimed the evidence showed only that he
was present when Campbell attempted to rob the victim. This contention was decisively
rejected. The trial court pointed out that Smith was not surprised by Campbell’s conduct
or afraid to interfere with it. The trial court found that “[t]heir concerted action
reasonably implies a common purpose” and that the jury could find Smith’s act of
standing in front of the victims was intended “to intimidate and block them, divert
suspicion, and watch out for others who might approach: Such conduct is a textbook
example of aiding and abetting.” (Id. at p. 409.)

That same reasoning applies here. Enriquez and Gutierrez watched as Ramos and

Langston argued. Ramos called out to them; both men responded and went to support
Ramos. Ramos made eye contact with Enriquez and told him he was going to get a gun.
Enriquez, Trevino, and Gutierrez got into the SUV and Enriquez told the others that
Ramos was going to get a gun. Gutierrez responded that he already had a gun with him
in the SUV.

When the SUV stopped, it was Enriquez who pointed out Langston’s location to
- Gutierrez. Gutierrez hopped out of the SUV saying, “Let’s take care of this fool right
now.” Gutierrez chaséd Langston while firing three shots at him, stopped to pick up the
expended shell casings, and then got back into the SUV. After the shooting, it was
Enriquez who drove the SUV away from the site of the shooting. |

We conclude there was sufficient evidence of defendant Enriquez’s aiding and
abetting murder.

Premeditation and Deliberation

Enriquez argues there was insufficient evidence to support the premeditation and
deliberation finding. We disagree.

In assessing the evidence for premeditation and deliberation, ““The true test is not

the duranon of time, but rather the extent of the reflection. A cold, calculated judgment
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and decision may be arrived at in a short period of time, but a mere unconsidered and
rash impulse, even though it include[d] an intent to kill, is not such deliberation and
pfemeditation ....>” (People v. Perez (1992) 2 Cal.4th 1117, 1124.) “‘Thoughts may
~ follow each other with great rapidity and cold, calculated judgment may be arrived at
quickly ...."” (People v. Velasquez (1980) 26 Cal.3d 425, »435.)

Here, the evidence of premeditation and deliberation is the same as that showing
an intent to kill. After Ramos had an altercation with Langston and told Enriquez he was
going to get a gun, Enriquez rounded up the other members of his gang that were present
and got into the SUV. Enriquez then informed the others that Ramos had gone to fetch a

gun; Gutierrez responded by stating he had a gun in the SUV. Enriquez went with the

others in the SUV to hunt down Langston and then pointed out Langston to fhe others
when Enriquez spotted him on the street. Gutierrez pursued Langston with the shotgun,
firing at Langston three times from a distance of between three and 20 feet.

Enriquez had more than ample time to deliberate on his actions. This wasnota
rash or sudden action that happened rapidly. It took time to locate Langston, time during
which Enriquez had an opportunity to reflect on and consider his actions. In light of
these facts, there was substantial evidence upon which a jury reasonably could have
found the attempted murder to be deliberate and premeditated.

Assault with a Firearm

Enriquez was convicted of aiding and abetting assault with a firearm and he
contends the evidence was insufficient to sustain the conviction. This argument is based
on the premise there was insufficient corroboration of accomplice testimony to sustain
the conviction. As we previously concluded, the accomplice testimony was adequately

corroborated by Schuetze, Harless, and others. Consequently, this contention is rejected.
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Substantive Gang Offense

Enriquez and Ramos contend the evidence was insufficient to sustain the
conviction for the substantive gang offense under Penal Code section 186.22, subdivision
(a).2 We disagree.

The section 186.22, subdivision (a) substantive gang offense is comprised of three
elements: (1) active participation in a criminal street gang; (2) knowledge that the gang’s
members have engaged in a pattern of criminal gang activity; and (3) the willful
promotion, furtherance, or assistance in any felonious criminal conduct by members of
that gang. (People v. Lamas (2007) 42 Cal.4th 516, 523.) In People v. Rodriguez (2012)
55 Cal.4th 1125, the California Supreme Court clarified that in order to satisfy the third

element, a defendant must willfully advance, encourage, contribute to, or help members
of his or her gang commit felonious criminal conduct. (Id. at p. 1132.) “The plain
meaning of section 186.22(a) requires that felonious criminal conduct be committed by at
leaist two gang members, one of whom can include the defendant if he is a gang
member.” (Ibid.)

| Here, Enriquez contends there was insufficient evidence the Varrio Westside
Shafters was a “criminal street gang” énd that he actively participated in the gang.
Ramos contends the evidence was snsufficient on all three elements of the offense.

In Albillar, supra, 51 Cal.4th 47, the California Supreme Court rejected the
argument that the offense defined by section 186.22, subdivision (a) includes “an
unwritten requirement that the ‘felonious criminal conduct’ that is promoted, furthered,
or assisted be gang related[.]” (Albillar, at p. 51.)

The court explained: “The gravamen of the substantive offense set forth in section
186.22(a) is active participation in a criminal street gang.... [TThe phrase ‘actively

participates’ reflects the Legislature’s recognition that criminal liability attaching to

2A11 further statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise noted.
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membership in a criminal organization must be founded on concepts of personal guilt
required by due process: ‘a person convicted for active membership in a criminal
organization must entertain “guilty knowledge and intent” of the organization’s criminal
purposes.’ [Citation.] Accordingly, the Legislature determined that the elements of the
gang offense are (1) active participation in a criminal street gang, in the sense of
participation that is more than nominal or passive; (2) knowledge that the gang’s
members engage in or have engaged in a pattern of criminal gang activity; and (3) the
willful promotion, furtherance, or assistance in any felonious criminal conduct by
members of that gang. [Citation.] All three elements can be satisfied without proof the

felonious criminal conduct promoted, furthered, or assisted was gang related.” (Albillar,

supra, 51 Cal.4th at pp. 55-56.)

Enriquez and Ramos claim there was a lack of evidence establishing Varrio
Westside Shafters as a criminal street gang. Much of the argument from Enriquez and
Ramos centers on the fact that testimony about the activities of the gang often referred to
the Surefios gang, not specifically the Varrio Westside Shafters gang. Evidence
establishing a criminal street gang’s activities, however, “need not necessarily be specific
to a particular local street gang as opposed to the larger organization. [Citations.]”
(People v. Williams (2008) 167 Cal.App.4th 983, 987; see, e.g., People v. Hawthorne
(1992) 4 Cal.4th 43, 53.)

The People argued at trial that the criminal street gang at issue was the Surefios
gang, of which Varrio Westside Shafters and Varrio Bakers were subsets. Harless
testified as a gang expert that the primary activities of thé Surefios gang included
murders, assaults, shootings, carjacking, auto theft, burglary, and narcotics offenses. The
primary activities to which Harless testified fall squarely within the offenses enumerated
in section 186.22, subdivision (f). Harless also testified that the Surefios were involved in

an ongoing pattern of criminal activity. Harless opined that both Varrio Bakers and
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Varrio Westside Shafters were part of the Surefios gang. Trevino also testified that
Varrio Bakers and Varrio Westside Shafters were part of the Surefios gang.

The evidence establishing the primary activities of the Surefios, and that Varrio
Bakers and Varrio Westside Shafters were part of the Surefios gang, was sufficient to
establish the primary activities and predicate offenses of the overarching criminal street
gang to which Ramos and Enriquez belonged.

Ramos and Enriquez also contend there was insufficient evidence they actively
participated in the gang. Active participation in the gang is involvement that is more than -
nominal or passive. (People v. Castenada (2000) 23 Cal.4th 743,747.)

As for Ramos, on August 18 and September 3, 2008, he acknowledged being a

member of the Varrio Bakers. On five different occasions between March 30, 1997, and
July 31,2011, including his arrest for the current offenses, Ramos claimed he was a
member of the Surefios gang and needed to be kept away from rival Nortefios when
booked into jail. Harless testified that Ramos was an active member of the Varrio Bakers
subset of the Surefios. Ramos sported gang tattoos and had a gang moniker. Ramos, on
more than one occasion, was in the company of another Varrio Bakers gang member.
This evidence was sufficient to establish that Ramos’s 'mvolvement was more than
nominal or passive and that he was an active gang member. (People v. Martinez (2008)
158 Cal.App.4th 1324, 1331.)

The evidence similarly establishes that Enriquez was an active member of the
gang. Harless testified Enriquez was an active member of the gang. Enriquez was in the
company of Varrio Westside Shafters gang members during prior contacts with law
enforcement and had a gang moniker. On five occasions between September 23, 2010,
and August 6, 2011, Enriquez was booked into the jail and asked to be kept away from
Nortefios. He acknowledged being a member of the Varrio Westside Shafters subset of
the Surefios. Enriquez had multiple gang tattoos on his head, neck, face, and hands. This

was sufficient evidence to establish that Enriquez’s involvement with the gang was more
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than nominal or passive and he was an active member of the gang. (People v. Martinez,
supra, 158 Cal. App.4th at p. 133 1.) |

The willful promotion element also was supported by sufficient evidence. Ramos
was involved in an altercation with Langston and called out to his “Southside homies” to
assist him; Ramos also called out for his fellow gang members to get a gun. Enriquez
complied with Ramos’s call for “homies” to assist him. It was Enriquez who then had his
fellow gang members get into the SUV to follow Langston, pointed out Langston s0 he
could be shot, and then drove the SUV from the crime scene.

The shooting of Langston, who had “disrespected” a Surefios gang member,

furthered the purposes of the gang by showing the level of violence the gang would use,

increasing the gang’s status. Further, gang members gain respect and increase their status
within the gang by committing crimes of violence. The shooting creates intimidation and
fear and deters others from interfering with the gang’s activities.

Finally, Ramos challenges the sufficiency of the evidence demonstrating he had
any knowledge that the gang’s members had engaged in a pattern of criminal activity.
Circumstantial evidence establishes that Ramos had the requisite knowledge. (People v.
Lewis (2001) 26 Cal.4th 334,379.)

Harless testified that members of gangs know about the ongoing criminal activities
of the gang. Ramos was a «shot-caller” and had an elevated status in the gang. Trevino
testified that when a gang member commits a crime, he wants other gang members 10
know about it because it increases the person’s status within the gang. Trevino also
testified that a member works his way up in the gang by committing crimes. From 1997
until his arrest for the current offenses, Ramos claimed membership in the Varrio Bakers
subset of the Surefios. This information, taken together, was sufficient circumstantial
evidence establishing that Ramos had knowledge the gang’s members engaged ina

pattern of criminal activity. (People v. Lewis, supra, 26 Cal.4th atp. 379.)
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Gang Enhancement

Enriquez argues the evidence was insufficient to support the gang enhancement set
forth in section 186.22, subdivision (b). Section 186.22, subdivision (b) has two prongs:
(1) conviction of a felony committed for the benefit of, at the direction of, or in
association with any criminal street gang, and (2) the defendant committed the crime with
the specific intent to promote, further, or assist in any criminal conduct by gang
members.

Enriquez repeafs the same argument as with the gang offense -- that the evidence
was insufficient because the primary activities and predicate offenses testified to at trial

concerned the Surefios gang, not specifically the Varrio Westside Shafters subset. As

discussed, ante, evidence establishing a criminal street gang’s activities, however, “need
not necessarily be specific to a local street gang as opposed to the larger organization.”
(People v. Williams, supra, 167 Cal.App.4th at p. 987.)

The second prong is satisfied if “substantial evidence establishes that the
defendant intended to and did commit the charged felonylwith known members of a
gang, the jury may fairly infer that the defendant had the specific intent to promote,
further, or assist criminal conduct by those gang members.” (Albillar, supra, 51 Cal.4th
at p. 68.) The second prong is established because Enriquez committed the offenses with
other known members of the Surefios gang, including Ramos and Gutierrez.

Strike Prior

Enriquez contends the evidence was insufficient to support the finding that his
prior conviction for possession of a loaded firearm iﬁ public by an active gang member
was a serious felony and strike offense. We disagree.

A prior conviction qualifies as a strike if it is for an offense “defined in
subdivision (c) of Section 667.5 as a violent felony or . . . defined in subdivision (c) of
Section 1192.7 as a serious felony in this state.” (§§ 667, sul;d. (d)(1), 1170.12,
subd. (b)(1).) The list of serious felonies set forth in section 1192.7, subdivision (c)
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includes any felony offense that would also constitute a felony violation of section
186.22. (§ 1192.7, subd. (c)(28).) The California Supreme Court determined that section
1192.7, subdivision (c)(28) includes the substantive gang offense and any felony
chmitted for the benefit of a criminal street gang as defined in section 186.22,
subdivision (b)(1). (People v. Briceno (2004) 34 Cal.4th 451, 456, 464.)

Enriquez pled no contest to a violation of former section 12031, subdivision
(2)(2)(C) in 2010.3 Effective January 1, 2012, former section 12031 was repealed and
section 25850 became operative; it was a nonsubstantive reorganization of deadly
weapons statutes. (Stats. 2010, ch. 711, §§ 4, 6; People v. Elliott (2012) 53 Cal.4th 535,
587, fn. 7.) Former Section 12031, subdivision (a)(2)(C) made it a felony for a criminal

street gang member to carry a loaded firearm in public.

Section 1016 explicitly provides that the legal effect of a no contest pleatoa crime
punishable as a felony is the same for all purposes as a plea of guilty. (People v. Ramirez
(2006) 141 Cal.App.4th 1501, 1506.) Thus, Enriquez’s plea constitutes “a judicial
admission of every element of the offense charged.” (People v. Chadd (1981) 28 Cal.3d
739, 748 (Chadd).)

In People v. Robles (2000) 23 Cal.4th 1106 (Robles), the California Supreme
Court determined that the reference in former section 12031, subdivision (a)(2)(C) to
active participation in a criminal street gang referred to the substantive gang offense set
forth in section 186.22, subdivision (a) and encompassed all elements of the substantive
gang offense. (Robles, atp. 1115.) Whena defendant satisfied the elements of the
section 186.22, subdivision (a) offense and carried a loaded firearm in public, the offense

was a felony. (Robles, at p. 1115.)

3 Former section 12031 was first adopted in 1967 and last amended in 2009 before
being repealed and recodified. (Stats. 1967, ch. 960, § 1; Stats. 2009, ch. 288, § 1.)
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Here, in 2010 Enriquez pled no contest, the equivalent of a guilty plea, to the
offense set forth in former section 12031, subdivision (a)(2)(C), 10 years after Robles
was published and six years after Briceno was published. Enriquez’s plea constitutes “a
judicial admission of every element of the offense charged.” (Chadd, supra, 28 Cal.3d at
p. 748.) Every element of the offense charged included all the elements of the
substantive gang offense under section 186.22, subdivision (a). (Robles, supra, 23
Cal.4th at p. 1115.) Atthe time of his plea, Enriquez was advised by the trial court of the
consequences of pleading to a serious felony. Enriquez cannot now claim thét his plea
constituted an admission of only a portion of the elements of the substantive gang

offense.

Conclusion

The test on appeal for whether there was sufficient evidence to uphold a
conviction is whether there was substantial evidence to support the conclusion of the trier
. of fact -- it is not whether guilt was established beyond a reasonable doubt. (Inre Ryan
N. (2001) 92 Cal. App.4th 1359, 1371-1372.) Here, there was sufficient evidence and
defendants’ challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence fail.
V. Instructional Issues

Gutierrez and Enriquez raise multiple instructional issues; Ramos has joined in
two of these issues. Gutierrez contends the trial cdurt made several instructional errors,
including (1) CALCRIM No‘. 302 lessens the prosecution’s burden of proof;
) CALCRIM No. 335 fails to instruct the jury adequately on accomplice testimony;
(3) by allowing slight evidence to corroborate accomplice testimony, CALCRIM No. 335
undermines the presumption of innocence; and (4) error to instruct the jury that potential
punishment being faced by a witness could not be considered in assessing the witness’s
credibility. Enriquez, joined by Ramos, contends it was error to instruct with CALCRIM
Nos. 337 and 3550 and failure to instruct the jury that Schuetze was an accomplice as a

matter of law and that her testimony had to be corroborated independently.
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Standard of Review

In considering a claim of instructional error we must first ascertain what the
relevant law provides and then determine what meaning the instruction conveys. “The
test is whether there is a reasonable likelihood that the jury understood the instruction in a
manner that violated the defendant’s rights.” (People v. Andrade (2000) 85 Cal.App.4th
579, 585.) We evaluate whether an instruétion is misleading by reviewing the jury
charge as a whole. (People v. Campos (2007) 156 Cal.App.4th 1228, 1237.) Instructions
" are not considered in isolation. (People v. Holt (1997) 15 Cal.4th 619, 677.) “““[Tlhe
correctness of jury instructions is to be determined from the entire charge of the court, not

from a consideration of parts of an instruction or from a particular instruction.”

[Citations.]” (People v. Musselwhite (1998) 17 Cal.4th 1216, 1248 (Musselwhite), see
People v. Carrasco (2006) 137 Cal.App.4th 1050, 1061.) “An instruction can only be
found to be ambiguous or misleading if, in the context of the entire charge, there is a
reasonable likelihood that the jury misco'nstrued or misapplied its words. [Citation.]”

(Campos, at p. 1237.)

In reviewing a claim of instructional error, we must assume that jurors are
intelligent persons and capable of understanding and correlating all jury instructions that
are given. (People v. Richardson (2008) 43 Cal.4th 959, 1028 (Richardson).) Juries are
presumed to follow the trial court’s instructions, unless the record affirmatively indicates
otherwise. (People v. Coffinan and Marlow (2004) 34 Cal.4th 1, 83 (Coﬁ"mdn and
Marlow).) When considering a claim that the trial court improperly instructed the jury, a
~ reviewing court must determine whether there is a reasonable likelihood the jury
construed or applied the instructions in an objectionable fashion. (People v.

Osband (1996) 13 Cal.4th 622, 685-686.) We review all instructions given, not just the
instruction complained of, to determine whether the jury charge as a whole is correct.

(Musselwhite, supra, 17 Cal.4th at p. 1249.)
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CALCRIM No. 302
Gutierrez contends CALCRIM No. 302 lessens the prosecution’s burden of proof.
CALCRIM No. 302 reads:

“If you determine there is a conflict in the evidence, you must decide what
evidence, if any, to believe. Do not simply count the number of witnesses
who agree or disagree on a point and accept the testimony of a greater
number of witnesses. On the other hand, do not disregard the testimony of
any witness without a reason or because of prejudice or a desire to favor
one side or the other. What is important is whether the testimony or any
other evidence convinces you, not just the number of witnesses who testify
about a certain point.”

Gutierrez claims that when applied to prosecution evidence, the instruction is

correct; but when applied to defense evidence and testimony, the jury may interpret the

instruction as requiring believable and convincing proof before accepting defense
testimony, rather than accepting exculpatory evidence that “possibly” could be true.

First, Gutierrez has forfeited this argument by not objecting to the instruction in
the trial court or requesting a clarifying instruction. If the defendant believes that an
instruction is incomplete or needs elaboration, then he or she is obligated to request an
additional or clarifying instruction. (People v. Maury (2003) 30 Cal.4th 342, 426.) “The
long-standing general rule is that the failure to request clarification of an instruction that
is otherwise a correct statement of law forfeits an appellate claim of error based upon the
instruction given.” (People v. Rundle (2008) 43 Cal.4th 76, 151 (Rundle).)

Second, Gutierrez’s interpretation of the language of CALCRIM No. 302
previously has been addressed, and rejected, in People v. Anderson (2007) 152
Cal. App.4th 919, 938-940. As the appellate court noted in Anderson, not only is the
argument based on a misreading of the instruction, but it ignores the fact the jury receives
other inst;'uctions on evaluating testimony of witnesses. We presume the jury

understood, correlated, and followed the instructions. (People v. Sanchez (2001) 26
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Cal.4th 834, 852 [jurors “are presumed able to understand and conelate instructions and
are further presumed to have followed the court’s instructions”].)

Consequently, not only has Gutierrez forfeited this issue by failing 10 seek a
clarifying instruction in the trial court, it fails on the merits.

CALCRIM No. 335

Gutierrez next .contends that CALCRIM No. 335 undermines the presumption of
innocence and stated a lesser burden for the prosecution than proof beyond a reasonable
doubt by permitting the jury to find that accomplice evidence was corroborated by “slight
evidence.” Again, Gutierrez failed to object to this instruction, or reqﬁest any clarifying

1angnagé, in the trial court. As such, he has forfeited any claim of error. (People v.

Virgil (2011) 51 Cal.4th 1210, 1260.)

Moreover, the statement that accomplice testimony need be corroborated by only
slight evidence is a correct statement of the law. (§ 1111; People v. Zapien (1993)

4 Cal.4th 929, 982.) The corroboration requirement of section 1111 is a collateral factual
issue, not an element of the charged offense that must be proven beyond a reasonable
~ doubt. (Peoplev. Frye (1998) 18 Cal.4th 894, 967 (Frye).)

The California Supreme Court in Richardson, supra, 43 Cal.4th at page 1024
reaffirmed the slight evidence standard. Neither Richardson nor any other California
Supreme Court case of which we are aware holds that corroboration by slight evidence
reduces the prosecution’s burden of proof. We are bound by the decisions of the
California Supreme Court. (Auto Equity Sales, Inc. v. Superior Court (1962) 57 Cal.2d
450, 455.)

Gutierrez also argues CALCRIM No. 335 fails to instruct the jury that accomplice
testimony must connect the defendant to the crime in such a way that the jury is satisfied
the accomplice is telling the truth. Gutierrez forfeited this contention by not objecting in
the trial court and requesting any clarifying or modifying language. (Rundle, supra, 43
Cal.4th at p. 151.)
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Additionally, section 1111 does not explicitly contain the requirement that
accomplice testimony must connect the defendant to the crime in such a way that the jury
is satisfied the accomplice is telling the truth. Qection 1111 states, In part, “A conviction
can not be had upon the testimony of an accomplice unless it be corroborated by such
other evidence as shall tend to connect the defendant with the commission of the
offense.”

Moreover, the jury was instructed, through CALCRIM _No. 226, on the standards
for judging the credibility or believability of a witness and deciding whether to believe
all, part, or none of a witness’s testimony. CALCRIM No. 226 has been foundtobea

correct statement of law on assessing credibility of witnesses. (People v. Warner (2008)

166 Cal.App.4th 633, 656-659.) We presume the jury understood and correlated
CALCRIM Nos. 226 and 335. (Coffiman and Marlow, supra, 34 Cal.4th at p. 83.)

CALCRIM Nos. 337 and 3550

During closing argument, counsel for Ramos argued that Fuller was a “thief” and
“drug addict liar” who «weaseled his way out of a life sentence” and instead received six
yeérs. At this point, the prosecution objected and asked that the jury not consider
punishment and consequences. The trial court then told the jury “you will be instructed”
that “you’re not to consider any potential consequences.” The trial court went on to say
that the testimony was that when Fuller entered his plea, he was “Jooking at a life
sentence.” The trial court again stated that “you will be instructed you’re not to consider
consequences, punishment in relative to making your decision.”

Gutierrez and Enriquez, joined by Ramos, contend the trial court erred by so
instructing the jury. They assert these instructions told the jury not to consider potential
or actual penal consequences facing prosecution witnesses when assessing the witness’s
credibility. We disagree.

The jury was instructed pursuant to CALCRIM No. 337 that when Fuller and

Trevino testified, “they were in custody, the fact that a witness is in custody does not by
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itself make a witness more or less believable. You are to evaluate the witness’ testimony
according to the instructions I have given you.” The jury also was instructed with
CALCRIM No. 3550, predeliberation instructions, which includes the statement, “You
must reach your verdict without any consideration of punishment.” However, the trial
court also instructed the jury with CALCRIM No. 226, which specifically states that
among the factors for a jury to consider in assessing a witness’s credibility is whether the
witness was promised immunity or leniency in exchange for his or her testimony.

A jury “can consider the differences between the potential penalties faced and the
actual penalties received by accomplices in assessing their credibility.” (People v. Jones

(2003) 30 Cal.4th 1084, 1114.) CALCRIM No. 3550, however, clearly applies to the

jury’s deliberation of the charges against a defendant; the jury does not return a verdict
except as against a defendant. CALCRIM No. 226 clearly instructed the jury it could
consider promises of immunity or leniency in determining whether to believe testimony
from a witness. Furthermore, the comments from the trial court to the jury were that it
would be instructed regarding consideration of punishment and consequences. We
presume the jury understood and correlated CALCRIM Nos. 226 and 3550. (Coffman
and Marlow, supra, 34 Cal.4th at p. 83.)

Although the trial court’s comments were somewhat inarticulate, we do not view
them as erroneously instructing the jury it could not consider potential penal |
consequences to Fuller or Trevino in assessing the credibility of these witnesses. The
trial court apparently was trying to inform the jury that it would be instructed it could not
consider potential punishment in reaching a verdict on the guilt of the three defendants.
This was in direct response to Ramos’s counsel pointing out that potentially Fuller, and
therefore defendants, were facing life in prison.

In light of the trial court’s comments to the jury that it would be instructed on this
issue, combined with the instructions given that correctly informed the jury it could

consider immunity or leniency in assessing witness credibility, a reasonable juror would
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have understood that he or she was not barred from considering the potential punishment
faced by Fuller or Trevino, and the punishment they actually received, in assessing the
credibility of their testimony. (People v. Jones, supra, 30 Cal.4th at p. 1114.)
Accomplice as a Matter of Law
In the trial court, Gutierrez, joined by Enriquez, requested the trial court instruct
the jury that Schuetze was an accomplice as a matter of law and that her testimony must
be corroborated independently; the prosecution objected. The trial court declined the
‘request.
On appeal, Enriquez, joined by Ramos, contends the trial court erred by not

instructing the jury that it had to determine if Schuetze was an accomplice, and, if so, that

her testimony must be corroborated. No request was made for suchanminstruction; but
Enriquez and Ramos argue the trial court had a sua sponte duty to so instruct.

An accomplice is a person “liable to prosecution for the identical offense charged
against the defendant on trial in the cause in which the testimony of the accomplice is
given.” (§ 1111.) The test of whether a witness is an accomplice is a factual, not legal,
question. (People v. Fauber (1992) 2 Cal.4th 792, 834 [whether person is accomplice is
question of fact for jury unless there is no dispute as to either facts or inferences to be
drawn]; People v. Sully (1991) 53 Cal.3d 1195, 1227-1228 [same].) Although the burden
is on the defendant to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that a witness is an
accomplice (People v. Tewksbury (1976) 15 Cal.3d 953, 963), “‘[wlhen there is sufficient
evidence that a witness is an accomplice, the trial court is required on its own motion to
instruct the jury on the principles governing the law of accomplices,” including the need
for corroboration. [Citation.]” (People v. Tobias (2001) 25 Cal.4th 327, 331.)

There is no evidence in the record from which a jury could have concluded that
Schuetze was an accomplice. There is no evidence Schuetze (1) had any knowledge
defendants were going to shoot Langston, (2) encouraged the shooting of Langston, or

(3) was present at the shooting of Langston. At most, Schuetze was present in the car
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when defendants drove to a motel and she knew a shotgun and shells were in the vehicle.
This knowledge, however, was insufficient to elevate her to the level of an accomplice.
(People v. Houston (2012) 54 Cal.4th 1186, 1223.) “““An accomplice must have
““guilty knowledge and intent with regard to the commission of the crime.””””
[Citation.]” (Id. at p. 1224.) As the trial court noted, the evidence was not even
sufficient to consider Schuetze to be an accessory. (Coffman and Marlow, supra, 34
Cal.4th at p. 103.)

V1. Claims of Prosecutorial Misconduct

Enriquez and Gutierrez assert the prosecutor committed misconduct when he

purportedly vouched for witnesses’ credibility. Enriquez also contends the prosecutor

committed misconduct by referring to matters outside the record in remarks about gangs.
Gutierrez argues the prosecutor committed misconduct by misstating the law, the state of
the evidence, and arguing facts not in evidence surrounding Yesenia Ortega’s testimony
and testimony from Fuller. Finally, Gutierrez claims the prosecutor committed

misconduct by misstating the law on accomplice corroboration.

““The applicable federal and state standards regarding prosecutorial
misconduct are well established. “‘A prosecutor’s ... intemperate behavior
violates the federal Constitution when it comprises a pattern of conduct so
“egregious that it infects the trial with such unfairness as to make the
conviction a denial of due process.””” [Citations.] Conduct by a prosecutor
that does not render a criminal trial fundamentally unfair is prosecutorial
misconduct under state law only if it involves “‘“the use of deceptive or
reprehensible methods to attempt to persuade either the court or the
jury.””” [Citation.]” (People v. Navarette (2003) 30 Cal.4th 458, 506.)

Prosecutorial misconduct requires reversal only if it prejudices the defendant.
(People v. Fi elds (1983) 35 Cal.3d 329, 363.) Where it infringes upon the defendant’s
constitutional rights, reversal is required, unless the reviewing court determines beyond a
reasonable doubt that the misconduct did not affect the jury’s verdict. (People v.

Harris (1989) 47 Cal.3d 1047, 1083.) Prosecutorial misconduct that violates only state
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law is cause for reversal when it is reasonably probable that a result more favorable to the
defendant would have occurred had the prosecutor refrained from the objectionable
conduct. (People v. Barnett (1998) 17 Cal.4th 1044, 1133.)

““It is misconduct for prosecutors to bolster their case “by invoking their personal
prestige, reputation, or depth of experience, or the prestige or reputation of their office, in
support of it.” [Citation.]’” (People v. Riggs (2008) 44 Cal.4th 248, 302.) Improper

vouching also includes

record.” [Citation.]” (People v. Huggins (2006) 38 Cal.4th 175, 206.) It also is

an attempt to bolster a witness by reference to facts outside the

misconduct for a prosecutor to suggest to the jury that he or she possesses information

about the case, other than evidence adduced at trial. The misconduct is in leading the

Jury to assess the merits ot the case based upon information to which the prosecutor, but
not the jury, is privy. (People v. Earp (1999) 20 Cal.4th 826, 864.)

Vouching

Concerning Schuetze, the prosecutor argued there was no evidence anything about
her testimony “was contrived” and that “at last we arrive at the truth from [her]
testimony.” Regarding Fuller, the prosecutor stated that there was “far too much
corroboration in his story,” his testimony was “very reliable,” and “[h]e signed a
document promising to te11>the truth and nobody influenced what he was going to say.”
Defense counsel objected to the remarks by the prosecutor, which the trial court
overruled.

The prosecutor also stated in closing that “[t]he only reasonable explanation
presented by the facts” is that the account of events given by Trevino, Schuetze, and
Fuller “are at long last the truth.” Regarding Officer Nicole Shihrer, the prosecutor
stated, “It’s her job to get this right” and “If your opinion about ... police officers in
general is so low as to believe that [she would omit exculpatory evidence], then, we may
as well stop calling cops to the stand.” Defense counsel objected on the basis of

vouching and was overruled.
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Finally, the prosecutor argued that the witnesses had no motive to lie because of
the immunity agreement. Defense counsel objected and the trial court overruled the
vouching objection, noting the immunity agreement required each witness to testify
~ truthfully.

Here, the prosecutor stated that witnesses were telling the truth based upon an
assessment of testimony in the case, the evidence presented, and the terms of the
immunity agreement. ‘

The prosecutor essentially argued that Schuetze and Fuller were finally telling the
truth at trial. Schuetze had lied to law enforcement initially. It was not until later that

Schuetze was forthcoming to law enforcement in an interview and at trial. Fuller also

initially lied about events and his inconsistent statements were before the jury. The
prosecutor arguing that witnesses finally were telling the truth at trial does not constitute
improper vouching for a witness. When a prosecutor states an opinion that a witness is
telling the truth, without implying any knowledge of facts outside the record as the basis
for this opinion, the prosecutor simply is stating an opinion on the basis of evidence
before the jury; this is not misconduct. (People v. Mayfield (1997) 14 Cal.4th 668, 781-
782.)

Regarding Trevino, the prosecutor argued that Trevino was télling the truth from
the inception, with the omission of the information that it was he who had hidden the gun.
Again, as long as the prosecutor’s assurances regarding the honesty or reliability of the
witness are based on the facts of the record, and the inference is reasonably drawn
therefrom rather than from any purported knowledge or belief, the comments cannot be
characterized as improper vouching. (People v. Ward (2005) 36 Cal.4th 186, 215.)

As for the contention regarding the prosecutor’s remarks about the immunity
agreements with Trevino and Fuller, the record discloses that the prosecutor explained
_the immunity agreement with Fuller. The prosecutor argued that Fuller agreed to testify

truthfully and no one influenced what he would say. Describing the terms of the
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immunity agreement is permissible argﬁment. The prosecutor’s later remarks about
whether Fuller and Trevino had a motive to lie with an immunity agreement in place
were remarks in response to the defense argument that Fuller and Trevino lied during
trial. A prosecutor may make remarks that are responsive to defense argument and based
on the record evidence in rebuttal, even if “perhaps otherwise improper.” (People v. Hill
(1967) 66 Cal.2d 536, 560.)

Even if any of the remarks were arguably improper, they were not prejudicial.
The jury was instructed that nothing the attorneys say in their opening statements and
closing arguments is evidence, and that the jury alone judged the credibility of witnesses.

We presume the jury understood and followed those instructions in the absence of a

showing to the contrary; here, there has been no such showing. (People v. Alfaro (2007)
41 Cal.4th 1277, 1327-1328 (Alfaro).)

Gang Reference

Enriquez contends the prosecutor committed misconduct by referring in closing
argument to matters regarding criminal street gangs that were outside the record. The
contention is not cognizable on appeal.

The comments Enriquez asserts constituted prosecutorial misconduct were made

by the prosecutor in closing, where he stated:

“As I said, in the world of criminal street gang[s], disputes are settled by
violence, even by slight ones. Even by ones that we take for granted every
day, disrespect. But this case is important because it offers the lawful law
abiding community an opportunity to say no.”

At trial, Gutierrez objected to the above remarks; Enriquez did not. Failure to
object and seek a curative admonition forfeits appellate review of any claim of
prosecutorial misconduct. (People v. Foster (2010) 50 Cal.4th 1301, 1354 (Foster).)

Regardless, the prosecutor’s remarks do not rise to the level of misconduct. In
analyzing claims of prosecutorial misconduct, we view the challenged statements in the

context of the argument as a whole (People v. Dennis (1998) 17 Cal.4th 468, 522
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(Dennis)), and “we ‘do not lightly infer’ that the jury drew the most damaging rather than
the least damaging meaning from the prosecutor’s statements. [Citation.]” (Frye, supra,
18 Cal.4th at p. 970.) The prosecutor’s remarks reasonably can be viewed as urging the
jury to hold defendants accountable for their criminal conduct -- not for any actions of
gangs in general.

Ortega Testimony

Gutierrez contends the prosecutor committed misconduct by arguing in rebuttal
that Ortega fabricated her testimony that Trevino confessed to being the gunman and
stating there was no evidence “in this record” or “before this jury” identifying Trevino as

the gunman. We reject the claim of prosecutorial misconduct.

Gutierrez did object to the remark on the grounds the prosecutor misstated the
record. The trial court responded, stating, “The jurors know what the evidence is, and
théy will know if there’s other evidence or[] not[,] so I will overrule the objection.”

Multiple times in closing argument the prosecutor mentioned Ortega’s testimony
that Trevino told her he was the gunman. The prosecutor repeatedly argued that Ortega
was lying and could not be trusted. In rebuttal, the prosecutor again addressed Ortega’s
testimony that Trevino confessed to being the gunman. Finally, in his last comment on
the matter, the prosecutor made the challenged remark.

Viewed in context, the remark could not reasonably be construed as the prosecutor
misstating the record. There were too many instances when the prosecutor specifically
referenced Ortega’s testimony regarding Trevino. Rather, the reasonable interpretation of
the remark is that the prosecutor was arguing there was no evidence before the jury
because Ortega’s testimony was not credible evidence that was worthy of the jury’s
consideration. Because we conclude there was no prosecutorial misconduct in making
the remark, we summarily reject Gutierrez’s claim of a violation of due process.

We also reject Gutierrez’s contention that the manner in which the trial court

overruled his defense counsel’s objection was a “scolding” and biased the jury against
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him. In People v. Hill, supra, 17 Cal.4th 800, upon which Gutierrez relies, the prosecutor
* committed misconduct on numerous occasions, the trial court repeatedly overruled the
defense objections to the misconduct, and eventually the trial court chastised defense
counsel for making the objections. (/d. at pp. 823-839.) That is not the case here. There
were not repeated instances of misconduct by the pfosecutor where objections by defense
were overruled. For the trial court on one occasion to ask defense counsel to state the
basis for an objection, without arguing the evidence, simply does not rise to the level of a
“scolding” as Gutierrez claims and would not have biased the jury.

Fuller’s Testimony

Gutierrez argues the prosecutor committed misconduct by stating that Ramos had

learned inside information from Enriquez, who in turn communicated 1t to Ortega, when
the two defendants were able to communicate on a bus ride to jail. Gutierrez contends
this was misconduct because that information was testified to by Fuller at an Evidence
Code section 402 hearing, but not during the trial.

Gutierrez failed to object to this remark, although counsel for a codefendant did.
Failure to object and seek a curative admonition forfeits appellate review of any claim of
prosecutorial misconduct. (Foster, supra, 50 Cal.4th at p. 1354.) Gutierrez has forfeited
any claim of prosecutorial misconduct in this in’stance.

The case of People v. Lopez (2013) 56 Cal.4th 1028 cited by Gutierrez does not
warrant a different conclusion. In Lopez, the prosecutor made the same disparaging
remark about both defense counsel jointly; one defense attorney interposed an objection,
which was sustained. On appeal, the California Supreme Court determined that an
objection from the second defense counsel was not necessary in order to preserve the
claim of prosecutorial misconduct for appeal by both defendants because the remark had

been made about both defense counsel. (/d. at p. 1073.)
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Here, the alleged prosecutorial misconduct related to Ramos and Enriquez, not
Gutierrez. In order to preserve a claim of prosecutorial misconduct for appeal, Gutierrez
should have objected to the remark during trial.

Accomplice Corroboration Remark

Gutierrez argues the prosecutor committed misconduct by stating in rebuttal
argument that one accomplice can corroborate the testimony of another accomplice,
which he contends is a misstatement of the law. Gutierrez misconstrues the remark.

The prosecutor stated, “While you need independent corroboration to be legally
sufficient, the corroboration between two accomplices as long as there is the independent

corroboration, it is certainly something you can take into consideration and it’s certainly

something you can factor in.” The prosecutor also remarked that with respect to
prosecution witnesses, “But their stories match up and corroborate each other.” Other
similar comments to these two were made by the prosecutor.

Section 1111 requires corroboration of accomplice testimony. It provides, in
pertinent part, “A conviction can not be had upon the testimony of an accomplice unless
it be corroborated by such other evidence as shall tend to connect the defendant with the
commission of the offense; and the corroboration is not sufficient if it merely shows the
commission of the offense or the circumstances thereof.” “‘The evidence required for
corroboration of an accomplice “need not corroborate the accomplice as to every fact to
which he testifies but is sufficient if it does not require interpretation and direction from
the testimony of the accomplice yet tends to connect the defendant with the commission
of the offense in such a way as reasonably may satisfy a jury that the accomplice is
telling the truth; it must tend to implicate the defendant and therefore must relate to some
act or fact which is an element of the crime but it is not necessary that the corroborative
evidence be sufficient in itself to establish every element of the offense charged.”
[Citations.] Moreover, evidence of corroboration is sufficient if it connects defendant

- with the crime, although such evidence “is slight and entitled, when standing by itself, to
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but little consideration.” [Citations.]’ [Citations.]” (People v. Garrison (1989) 47
Cal.3d 746, 773.)

It is true that “In order to corroborate the testimony of an accomplice the
prosecution must introduce independent evidence which of itself connects the defendant
with the crime without any aid from the testimony of an accomplice.” (People v. Luker
(1965) 63 Cal.2d 464, 469.) Such evidence may not come from the testimony of other
accomplices. (People v. Davis (2005) 36 Cal.4th 510, 543.)

We do not interpret the prosecutor’s remarks as Gutierrez would suggest. The
prosecutor clearly stated and acknowledged that accomplice testirriony must have

independent corroboration. To state that as long as there was independent corroboration,

the jury‘ could “factor in” that the accomplices’ testimony was consistent is not a
misstatement of law on corroboration of accomplice testimony. We see nothing in the
prosecutor’s remarks that would have allowed the jury, as Gutierrez claims, to use an
“amalgam” of independent evidence and other accomplice testimony as corroboration for -
an accomplice’s testimony.

Moreover, the jury was specifically instructed that “The evidence needed to
support the statements or testimony of one accomplice cannot be provided by the
statements or testimony of another accomplice.” Absent evidence to the contrary, and
hone has been cited by Gutierrez, we presume the jury followed this instruction. (4lfaro,
supra, 41 Cal.4th at pp. 1327-1328.)

VII. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

Gutierrez contends his defense counsel rendered ineffective assistance when
counsel failed to object to certain portions of Schuetze’s testimony.

The familiar standard for review of claims of effective assistance of counsel is
that the defendant must show (1) trial counsel failed to act in a manner to be expected of
reasonably competent attorneys, and (2) a more favorable result would have beeﬁ

obtained absent counsel’s failings. (People v. Lewis (1990) 50 Cal.3d 262, 288.) “If the
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record on appeal fails to show why counsel acted or failed to act in the instance asserted
to be ineffective, unless counsel was asked for an explanation and failed to provide one,
or unless there simply could be no satisfactory explanation, the claim must be rejected on
appeal. [Citation.]” (People v. Kraft (2000) 23 Cal.4th 978, 1068-1069.)

During the direct examination of Schuetze, she testified to seeing Gutierrez get
into the SUV and leave. During cross-examination by Ramos’s counsel, Schuetze
testified she was looking out a window and saw the SUV leave. When Enriquez’s
counsel cross-examined Schuetze, Schuetze testified that she saw the SUV leave, but
“didn’t pay attention to who got in .and out.” Schuetze also acknowledged that she did

not see who got into the SUV, but “put two and two together.” On redirect, Schuetze

acknowledged initially telling police she saw who got into the SUV and that now her
testimony was that she did not actually see who got into the SUV, but she assumed
Gutierrez and Enriquez were in the SUV because she did not see them after the SUV left.

Gutierrez contends defense counsel was ineffective because he failed to object—
on the grounds it assumed facts not in evidence—to Schuetze’s testimony that she saw
Gutierrez leave the motel in the SUV. Gutierrez also contends defense counsel was
ineffective for failing to move to strike for lack of foundation this same testimony when it
was revealed that Schuetze was basing her testimony on an assumption.

As was revealed during questioning of Schuetze on redirect, prior to the trial she
had told law enforcement that she saw who got into the SUV. When Schuetze testified
initially on direct examination, her testimony was consistent with her pretrial statement to
law enforcement. Schuetze’s pretrial comments would have been available to the defense
and certainly precluded any objection, at that time, on the basis of assuming facts not in
evidence. |

Concerning defense counsel’s failure to object to certain of Schuetze’s testimony,
“[f]ailure to object rarely constitutes constitutionally ineffective legal representation.”

(People v. Boyette (2002) 29 Cal.4th 381, 424.) The decision whether to object is
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inherently tactical, and the failure to object rarely will establish ineffective assistance.
(People v. Hillhouse (2002) 27 Cal.4th 469, 502.) Here, at the time Schuetze initially
testified, there was no basis for an objection on the grounds suggested by Gutierrez.
When it became clear under cross-examination that Schuetze had assumed
Gutierrez and others left in the SUV because they were no longer at the motel after the
SUV left the parking lot, Gutierrez contends defense counsel should have moved to strike
Schuetze’s earlier testimony on the grounds of a lack of personal knowledge. Again,
considering that cross-examination and redirect thoroughly fleshed out exactly what
Schuetze observed, as opposed to the conclusions she drew, defense counsel reasonably

could decide tactically not to pursue the matter further.

With regélrd to the question of whether counsel’s performance was objectively
unreasonable, “‘“Reviewing courts defer to counsel’s reasonable tactical decisions ... and
there is a ‘strong presumption that counsel’s conduct falls within the wide range of
reasonable professional assistance.”” [Citations.] “[W]e accord great deference to
~ counsel’s tactical decisions™ [citation], and ... “courts should not second-guess
reasonable, if difficult, tactical decisions in the harsh light of hindsight” [citation].””
(People v. Jones (2003) 29 Cal.4th 1229, 1254; accord, People v. Weaver (2001) 26
Cal.4th 876, 928 [“‘even ;‘debatable trial tactics” do not “constitute a deprivation of the
effective assistance of counsel”””].) And, “[i]n order to prevail on [an ineffective
assistance of counsel] claim on direct appeal, the record must afﬁrmatively disclose the
lack of a rational tactical purpose for the challenged act or omission. [Citations.]”
(People v. Ray (1996) 13 Cal.4th 313, 349.) “‘In the usual case, where counsel’s trial
tactics or strategic reasons for challenged decisions do not appear oh the record, we will
not find ineffective assistance of counsel on appeal unless there could be no conceivable
reason for counsel’s acts or omissions.”” (Jones, at p. 1254.)

On the record before us, we conclude there was no ineffective assistance of

counsel.
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VIII. Gang Registration Requirement

Ramos contends the gang registration requirement set forth in the abstract of
judgment should be reversed because it was not orally imposed at sentencing. He is
mistaken.

The abstract of judgment must reflect the court’s oral pronouncement of judgment.
(People v. Mitchell (2001) 26 Cal.4th 181, 185-186.) ‘fThe clerk cannot supplement the
judgment the court actually pronounced by adding a provision to the minute order and the
abstract of judgment. [Citation.]” (People v. Zackery (2007) 147 Cal.App.4th 380, 387-
388.)

The gang registration requirement is set forth in section 186.30 and requires that

any person convicted of a gang offense or gang enhancement set forth in section 186.22,
subdivisions (a) and (b), respectively, must register with law enforcement. At sentencing,
the trial court stated, “I will further order that [Ramos] register under the provision of
Section 186.30.” '
The abstract of judgment conforms to the oral pronouncement of judgment, which
included the gang registration requirement.
| DISPOSITION

The judgments are affirmed.

CORNELL, J.

WE CONCUR:

i

HILL, P.J.

GO&S, J.
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